TUESDAY 25 JULY 2000

INQUIRY HEARING RESUMES AT 9:43 A.M.



CHAIR ADDRESSES INQUIRY

CHAIR:   	Before we start with the evidence I can now announce to you that the Minister has approved an extension of time so that we have one further week of evidence.  There is also the possibility now of more time in September.  I have had circulated today a copy of a letter I wrote to the Minister on the 19 July asking her then if it would be possible  to extend time so that we could sit for one more week next week and also because Dr Duggan had indicated to me that she could return to New Zealand in September, asking for a fortnight then for the purposes of hearing oral submissions.  I have the Minister’s letter which arrived late yesterday and in her letter she has confirmed that we can sit for another week.  She has also confirmed that we can sit in September for the purposes of submissions and on that basis she has extended the final date for the handing in of the report to 20 December.  Now I understand from Dr Duggan that she can be in New Zealand in September in the week commencing 18 September and for the following week 29 September so what I’m proposing at the moment is that all parties and counsel file written submissions by the end of August and then we will convene in September and everyone will then have the opportunity to speak to their submissions, the idea being not that the written submissions are read out but that it will be an opportunity for oral presentation.  Also depending upon what the outcome is of the hearing on Monday to determine the legal point about the powers of the committee of inquiry under the Commissions of Inquiry Act to override Section 74A of the Health Act, if the Skegg study should go ahead then the time in September would be an opportune time for that study to be presented but as planned, apart from the presentation of the Skegg study if it does go ahead and any opportunities parties counsel may wish to question that study, the time in September will not be used for evidence, all evidence must be completed now and the time in September is purely to give everyone an opportunity to address their written submissions and bring particular points of relevance to the committee’s attention.



MR HODSON ADDRESSES CHAIR

MR HODSON:   	Ma’am I must first express my appreciation of the revival of those affected to give more time to this matter and my appreciation of the cooperation of counsel assisting and I understand the committee in the rescheduling of witnesses for next week which seems to meet the difficulties are presaged, however and there is always a however it seems, I regret to say that as presently advised, neither myself nor my junior will be available at any time in September.  Possible  alternatives, if they are to be canvassed, would be the last fortnight in August or the middle fortnight in October.

CHAIR:   	I don’t think that there would be any room for possibilities.  I can raise it with Dr Duggan and come back to you on that but Dr Duggan has agreed to reschedule what are her own pressing commitments in Calgary in order to come back in September.  Now the time in September has been chosen not because it suits the panel of Inquiry, but because it is the only that Dr Duggan can come back, as I understand it.   If she could have come back in August, then obviously that would have happened.  If we hadn't had this extra time all we would have been able to do is deal with written submissions.   The whole purpose of this is to give parties an opportunity to present their submissions orally.   Those who are unable to take up that opportunity will have to just rely on written submissions.   I’ll certainly raise it with Dr Duggan.  There would be no possibility in October, simply because we can't contemplate commencing the report until after we have heard submissions.   The Minster, on the basis of Dr Duggan’s availability in September, has extended the reporting date until 20 December.   Obviously, the later we are in hearing submissions the less time we have in terms of meeting that 20 December deadline.  In terms of the earlier date you’ve suggested in August, I’ll have to speak to Dr Duggan about that, but what I can say now is that these current arrangements have not been entered into lightly.  My letter to the Minister on 19 July specifically referred to Dr Duggan’s return in circumstances where I had already very carefully canvassed with Dr Duggan could she return if the Minster were agreeable to that, and secondly if she could return what would be the most convenient time for her to return.   So although I’ll pursue it Mr Hodson, I doubt very much if we will be able to change matters any more than I have presently indicated.

MR HODSON:   Ma'am, it may well be that there are no oral submissions on behalf of Dr Bottrill.   Alternatively, it is possible that without hearing anyone else’s submissions, and I would certainly not wish to be heard for Dr Bottrill for more than a short period, I, with respect, don’t believe in lengthy oral submissions on any occasion least of all this.   Even if the first week in October, a day or two in that, the beginning of that might be possible.

CHAIR:   Thank you.   Does anyone else have any comment to make before we move on to the evidence?

MR HINDLE:   Just one thing on the question of Professor Skegg’s study.   Obviously if it can be prepared in time for the reconvened hearing, all reasonable and best endeavours will be made to do that I know, but one of the things I need to address during the balance of this week before we make submissions on Monday is some realistic evaluation of the logistics.   I’m aware, for example, that Professor Skegg is chairing a committee of the Reproductive Health Committee in Geneva during September and I also haven't yet had an opportunity to discuss with Dr Richardson exactly what's involved in doing the study.   All I’m doing is saying, in addition to legal issues, I’d better appraise the committee on Monday with some evaluation of the logistics that are involved.

CHAIR:   Well I don’t think we really need to hear that because what we want to know is the legal issues, can it be done.   That is for a start very important to determine.   Secondly, if it can legally be done, we can't compel Professor Skegg to do it, it’s merely a matter of does he still wish to do it.   If he wishes to do it, if he is able to do it and he can report by September we will receive the report.   If he can't, then it can't happen.   So we really have no interest in the logistics.   All we want to do is deal with the legal issue and see whether or not we can clear the way legally for the study to take place.   If we can do that, and I don’t know yet, but if we can, then it’s a matter for those persons who are going to carry out the study to then see whether or not it is feasible in the circumstances.

MR HINDLE:   If you aren't interested in logistics I shan’t trouble with them.

CHAIR:   No.

MR HINDLE:   May I continue where we left off yesterday?

CHAIR:   Yes.

�MR HINDLE recalled –

PROFESSOR SKEGG     (On former oath)

Q:    Professor Skegg, towards the end of yesterday’s session you’d been discussing the material presented by Mr du Rose and you were explaining some comments that you had by way of concern about that material.   I just want to make sure:  have you covered all of the comments that occurred to you in considering Mr du Rose’s material?

A:   I believe so, yes.   I could give specific examples but I think I've covered the main points.

Q:    I just want to ask you a question about the document that we saw at the beginning of my discussion with you yesterday afternoon, that is Ms Mellor’s exhibit 87 at p52.  Just in that top table – in both top and bottom, there you have a total of 39 cancers confirmed on histology, all of which emanate from women who've been screened.   Have you ever seen a data set like that before?

A:    No, but then I haven't seen many data sets of this nature.  And certainly one unfortunately not infrequently sees cancer in women who have been screened and as I explained in my first brief of evidence one must expect to see some cancers in women who have had negative smear reports.   And I also mentioned that as the coverage of the population increases we must expect the proportion of women in that category to increase.  However, it is – and perhaps I should say one other thing:  we don’t know how many women in this population were not screened.   That’s one of the limitations of this particular analysis, it’s confined to women who had smears that happened to be included in the Sydney re-read.   So it’s probably not a complete sample of the women in Gisborne who had been screened and it’s certainly not a complete sample of the women who've developed cancer over the period in question.  But certainly it is remarkable to see so many women, such a proportion of women who developed cancer after having normal smears.  And as I mentioned yesterday, I found the dichotomy between the results for Dr Bottrill’s laboratory and the Sydney laboratory particularly remarkable.   Perhaps if I could just mention in relation to the 17 women who developed cancer after having normal smears, these are the ones in the third to bottom row of the lower panel of the table, these women are briefly mentioned on p23 of the text, and it’s not for me to amend Ms Mellor’s document, but I just would mention that I have annotated my own copy because in section 9.3.3 there's a bullet point there mentioning that 39 women have been diagnosed with cervical cancer, and after 3 lines it says, “11 of these 39 women had all smears originally reported as normal and re-read as high grade”.   The next point is that four of these women had all smears originally reported as normal and re-read as ASCUS-H.  and I think by deduction, and certainly I've added to my own copy, two must have had smears originally read as normal and re-read as cancer.  So someone who reads the text and doesn't study the table might get a slightly incomplete impression there.  There are, I believe, 17 women and 11 were read as high grade by Sydney, 4 as ASCUS-H and 2 as cancer.

Q:    Just putting that to one side and I'm sorry to do this coming back to your consideration of the information that’s been made available to the Inquiry about the current effectiveness of the Cervical Screening Programme in NZ, do you have a view as to whether the study conducted by Mr duRose offers comfort that the screening programme is being effectively delivered across the country?

A:    That’s the big question, and I certainly don’t want to cause undue concern, and I would like to reiterate a point that I made in my first brief of evidence, that if one looks at the incidence and mortality from cervical cancer in NZ, it's quite clear that the programme is preventing many cases of invasive cancer and I mention that Dr Cox and I had predicted a major increase in the incidence in mortality which seemed almost inevitable because of the very marked changes in sexual behavior that have occurred in the last 30 years, the increase in cigarette smoking in young women, oral contraception and so on and we’ve really faced, I believe, an epidemic of cervical cancer but in fact the number of cases each year has come down, the mortality is at an all time low in New Zealand so I’d like to sort of preface my comments by making that point that we are at the moment achieving a great deal with the cervical screening programme but having said that, I was not comforted by Mr DuRose’s evidence to the extent that we could deduce that what has happened in Gisborne is totally exceptional and that there might not be some other areas where similar problems could exist or could have existed in the past.

Q:   	What do you think we should do about it to find out whether there are such problems?

A:   	Well I think there’s two things.  First of all I think that the work that the Health Funding Authority has started could be developed and I mentioned yesterday when Mr DuRose had given evidence that it had to be planned in secret, that they were not able to consult as widely as they might have liked and I believe that it would have been desirable to include by statistical and epidemiological advice right from the outset in designing an evaluation that would have been more robust and I’m sure that more could still be done with the data on the National Cervical Screening Register  but I think the other thing which needs to be done as a matter of some urgency is to start the national evaluation that has been talked about for probably more than a decade and that the Ministry of Health  commissioned last year but is still not fully underway.

Q:   	For what reason?

A:   	Well as I mentioned in my second brief of evidence the project that has been commissioned by the Ministry of Health  has been blocked on privacy grounds and I think I mentioned in my evidence that it had been now delayed for 7 months, I think it's probably 8 months because I wrote this brief about a month ago and essentially the whole thing is stymied.  I understand there has been correspondence between  the Ministry and the Otago Ethics Committee but nothing is happening.

Q:   	Am I right in thinking that what you are suggesting is effectively the same sort of thing that you’ve proposed for the Tairawhiti area but done on a much more national basis?

A:   	Yes the national evaluation Dr Cox will be able to speak about in detail because he is the principal investigator but it has an number of different aspects but the particular aspect that I am referring to is in principal very similar to what has been proposed for the Tairawhiti area.  It involves an audit of cases of invasive cancer  to find out whether they have been screened and if they were screened, to see whether those smears were reported as normal.  I don’t think at this stage Dr Cox’s proposal involves re-examination of smears and I think that’s something which ought to be incorporated but I see it as a matter of some urgency and I believe it's been so for some years to find out how many women are developing cancer despite having had successive smears reported as normal.  As I say we would expect some but ought to be examining the situation.



CHAIR INTERJECTS AND XXN WITNESS

CHAIR:   	Professor Skegg it seemed to me that at the moment statistics that we do have show that the national average of high grade smears is .8% but we have never had a full clinical audit of women who have developed cervical cancer whilst on the screening programme and there has never been a full evaluation of the screening programme particularly insofar as it relies to laboratory reporting so in those circumstances how can we be assured that the national average of .8% is actually a correct and accurate figure?

A:   	I don’t believe we can be.

Q:   	And so the fact that at the moment we see that there are laboratories that are within the range of what we see as the national average and so we say well those laboratories are all right, we can be assured by that, we could in fact be being falsely assured because our national average might not be a reliable figure.

A:   	Yes I agree.

Q:   	The other point I’d just like to ask you now is you mentioned in terms of the Cox study, that's Cox and Richardson study, the Otago Ethics Committee.  So far, and I’ll just list it, from reading the evidence I have seen that the preparation of the earlier statistical reports at times omitted reference to Wellington because the Ethics Committee in Wellington had concerns about releasing statistical information.

A:   	Yes.

Q:   	I’ve seen that you have had to apply to the Tairawhiti  Ethics Committee for the purposes of your study of the women in Tairawhiti and I now hear that Dr Cox is having difficulty with the Otago Ethics Committee and it seems to me that given that the programme is a national programme, instead of being able to deal with one Ethics Committee which would give a decision on the programme and therefore evaluations and studies that could be done for the programme on a national basis, there is a fragmented approach whereby regional Ethics Committee’s  can by their decisions have an effect on what might be a national study.

A:   	Yes that's quite true.  There is a national system, the national evaluation will have I think been seen by all the Ethics Committee’s but the convention is that the investigators apply to their local Ethics Committee who then act as a sort of clearing house and collect opinion from around the country and then finally make the decision but you’re quite right, the evaluation of the national programme does at the moment depend on a decision by the Otago Ethics Committee and there have been proposals for having a national Ethics Committee and I know the Ministry at the moment is reviewing the arrangements for Ethics Committees so I certainly agree with you that it seems anomalous that a local committee can have such an impact on a national programme but my one rider to that would be unfortunately I think the stance that’s been taken by the Otago Ethics Committee is probably not typical of those that would be taken by the other committees so I wouldn’t have great comfort that if the same people nominated someone for a national committee that we would have a different outcome.

Q:   	The other point is that it seems that if women at the moment they decide whether or not to opt off the Register, if they in fact were presented with a proposition whereby their decision to opt off was related to programme rather than the Register and the programme was seen as something that encompassed more than just the Register but also as an integral part had quality assurance  monitoring and evaluation of how all aspects of the programme worked, then their decision to remain on the programme would be an implicit consent to evaluation of the programme occurring at any give time do you agree?

A:   	I’ve read that proposal in transcript and it certainly has a number of attractions but I do have some concerns.  I have thought about it and if I may explain why I have concerns.  The first one is whether the Ethics Committees would accept that implied consent as being enough.  In the case of our proposed study for Tairawhiti we were required to obtain written consent from women and even from the next of kin of those who had died so whether they would consider just accepting you on a programme gave that implied consent I’m not sure.  If it was expected, I believe at the moment that doctors are supposed to advise women every time they have a smear that their name is going on a Register.  If they then got to also advise them look the whole purpose of this is to try and prevent you from getting cancer, but by the way if you do get it, someone’s going to come and look at your case notes and so on.  This becomes yet another sort of bureaucratic barrier. Another problem is that it would completely leave out the those women who are not on the Register, and I think they deserve to have an adequate standard of health care as well.

CHAIR:   Yes.

A:    And I would actually much rather that this implied consent applied to people who have health care in this country.  I don’t really think that this should be the only programme that has proper quality assurance, and that sort of leads me to my third point that cervical cancer is a very important disease but it’s by no means the most important cancer even affecting women in NZ, or in the Tairawhiti area.   There are other cancers that cause far more suffering and far more deaths than cervical cancer.  And I would be concerned that if the panel were to recommend this special arrangement for cervical cancer it would seem really to support the position taken by the Ethics Committees at the moment that privacy considerations should preclude us from proper quality control.  I guess one last practical point is that if the panel were to make that recommendation, I don’t know how long it would take for it to take effect, because first of all it would have to be introduced to the programme and then there would be a delay of months or perhaps several years before it could be considered that enough women had given such implied consent to be monitored.   I think one of the things that concerns me is that the Ethics Committees, many of whom I may say, the people on the Otago Ethics Committee, are my personal friends and I have great respect for them and for their sincerity, but I think they often don’t see the cost of not doing things.  They see the problems in doing them, but not the cost of not doing them.   I've thought about this issue with the national evaluation and I hope this doesn't sound emotive, but about 80 women a year die from cervical cancer in NZ each year.  Now I believe it would be a very conservative estimate to assume that at least 10 of those deaths could be prevented by detecting the sort of problems that have emerged in Gisborne and doing something about them.  Having heard Mr duRose’s evidence yesterday I think it is a very conservative estimate.   What that means is that a delay of 8 months already probably means that 5 or 6 women will die unnecessarily because we haven't sorted things out with this programme.  Similarly I think if the committee felt that its only recourse was to make such a recommendation that might involve a delay of several years, it would, in effect, be countenancing a delay that would be responsible for the deaths of a significant number of women in the long term.

Q:    I must say, what I had in mind was actually a change to the legislation so that you wouldn't need Ethics Committee approval,  it would just be part and parcel of the legislation that instead of just having an opt-off register it would be an opt-off programme and built into the programme would be quality assurance.  

A:    So would that take effect immediately when the legislation was passed, or would the women have to have the chance to opt-off now that their notes are going to be available for?

Q:    That would depend on how the legislation was written.

A:    Yes.



MR HINDLE:    But certainly one sees the problem, and just so that I've understood it, am I right to think that one of your concerns about all of that would be to ensure that, in advancing the Cervical Screening Programme, you don’t disadvantage the evaluation of other types of cancers?

A:    Yes, I mean, one of the points that I've made in m y second brief of evidence is that we have an exceptionally high rate of cancer in NZ, and I mention that NZ women have the 6th highest death rate out of 173 countries.   Now I think this is a totally unacceptable situation, and I think that we should be dealing with it as a matter of urgency.   So it really upsets me when Ethics Committees are blocking us from doing the most basic audit of the quality of health care.

Q:    I’ve just got two more very small subjects before we move away from that subject altogether.

CHAIR:   Before you do then, I note Professor Skegg, and this appears at p219 of DuRose exhibit 8.  It’s part of a document of the Health Funding Authority which discusses the legislative context, and I note there in discussing rule 10 of the Health Information Privacy Code and this relates to the Health Funding Authority being able to use information.   But it says there that the Health Funding Authority may use information, or it may not use it for any purpose other than the one it was obtained for unless the Health Funding Authority believes on reasonable grounds that the proposed purpose is directly related to the purpose for which the information was collected.   In your view Professor Skegg would you see quality assurance programmes which look at monitoring and evaluating the medical care that a patient has received to be a purpose which is directly related to the purpose for which the information was first obtained – i.e. the treatment of the patient?

A:    Well yes I would.  Certainly for some aspects.   But there is also another part of the Health Information Privacy Code – I think it’s s11, which specifically provides for research and specifically provides for situations in which it is either not practicable or desirable to obtain the consent of subjects.   So I believe the privacy code is no problem, it’s been very carefully framed and I think the Privacy Commissioner has consistently taken the view that he has a statutory obligation to give, as I quote:  “Do you regard for the protection of important human rights and social interests that compete with privacy.”   So it’s really the way in which the code is being interpreted by the Ethics Committees rather than the legislative arrangements.   I think the legislation is fine.

Q:    It seems to me that evaluation studies can occur in two ways, one is where the body responsible for the delivery of the health service wants to have it evaluated, and this is the case I think with the Cox and Richardson study where the Ministry of Health engaged them to evaluate the programme.  I believe that first was planned in 1996 and it still hasn’t been completed.

A:    Yes.

Q:    the other way though that an evaluation might take place is where there is an independent external researcher wanting to look at some aspect of health care and wanting to do an evaluative study on that health care.   And that is just as important, is it not, in the overall context of health delivery as the evaluative study sought by the body responsible for delivery of the health care?

A:    Yes, I strongly agree with that.  I think if we just leave it to the bodies responsible it’s inevitable, and I’m making no comment about any particular body in this, that at times unsatisfactory standards will prevail because sometimes that body may be the last that wants to draw attention to deficiencies.

Q:    And so therefore it struck me that in making any recommendations the Inquiry had to keep very much in mind the need and the benefits of the two types of evaluative studies.

A:    Yes, I certainly agree.   A good example would be if it had depended on Dr Bottrill’s laboratory to conduct an evaluation of their own work.  Clearly there are times when it is necessary for outsiders to be able to do such studies.

Q:    And it seems that the way the programme has developed at the moment, and particularly because of s74A of the Health Act and other privacy issues, that there has been no internal evaluation of the programme in the sense that the Ministry of Health that was responsible for the programme and now the Health Funding Authority have not been able to ensure there has been a full evaluation of the programme’s performance, and equally any external researcher who might have been interested in writing a research paper on the performance of the programme would have been unable to do so as well.

A:    Yes, certainly would not have been able to do so with adequate information.

Q:    And from the perspective of an epidemiologist on the basis of the information that you might be able to gain access to, do you think you could gain access to sufficient information to allow you to do a private evaluative study on the programme if you wished to write such a study?

A:    No because I would encounter exactly the same problems that Dr  Cox is now encountering.

Q:    In your experience as a consultant to the World Health Organisation, have you ever encountered a situation where the body responsible for the delivery of a health programme has itself found it has run into obstacles of a privacy nature in being able to have the delivery of the programme evaluated by persons whom it has contracted to carry out that task?

A:   	I can’t think of any and I think it's very interesting that the Director-General of Health, I’m not sure it's appropriate to quote this but there's a letter that she’s written to the Sunday Star Times a couple of weeks ago in which she really expresses her own concern and I think I have the letter here, Dr Patasi was writing to the Sunday Star Times on 9 July and her two final paragraphs she said the Ministry shares Sandra Coney’s concerns about the balance between ethics and research highlighted in the Tairawhiti Ethics Committee’s decision and I won’t quote the rest of that paragraph but the decision encapsulates the tension between  the public good of research into the safety and quality of programmes and the issues of privacy and patient’s rights.  Then she concludes I am concerned if I cannot commission research into the safety and effectiveness of screening programmes, we need to debate the issue and arrive at a position which balances public and private good.  So clearly the Director-General herself is concerned about the situation.  Having said that I must however say that this obsession with privacy is not confined to New Zealand and I wish I could say that the rest of the world is sensible and we’re the only ones with this problem.  It is something which is very prevalent in the Western World at the moment and I have my own theories as to why but their not of any importance.  It is something which other countries are having to contend with but I think it does seem to be taking a particularly ludicrous position at the moment here.

Q:   	Well the concern that Dr Patasi has noted as stating in that letter of 9 July to the Sunday Times is the concern of the Ministry of Health’s ability to commission research to ensure that health service are being delivered effectively.  It doesn’t deal with the added issue of the ability of external researchers to undertake a research programme and how important would you say that was as  well in terms generally of just keeping a check on the delivery of health care within a country?

A:   	I think it's of huge importance.  I mean I think it's great the Ministry at the moment are wanting to commission this study but there have been other times when there was a need for other groups to look at issues not just relating to the control of cervical cancer.  I mention in my brief as an example the treatment of breast cancer which they say effects far more women than cervical cancer and actually far more maori women even in an area like Tairawhiti.  We have the second highest death rate in the OECD.  I believe it's possible  that at least some of our high mortality may be due to women not receiving the best treatment.  Now someone needs to do an audit of the treatment  of breach cancer in New Zealand.   As I said in my brief I don’t think anyone would even propose doing such a study at the moment because they wouldn’t expect the Ethics Committee’s to approve it.

Q:   	The other aspect of this issue is that we know that the current issue came to light as a result of a court case brought by witness one.  In other countries of the world, persons who feel they have not received effective medical care can sue for compensatory damages and in that context, issues will be aired in court in a public arena whereas in New Zealand with the Accident Compensation Act there is a bar against suing so do you think that in itself also has an effect on the ability to reassess the effectiveness of a medical service and what impact it has had on a patient?

A:   	I think that's a difficult question to answer because I think to rely on people having to take litigation is an extremely crude way of ensuring adequate health care and I think actually the ideal situation is one where doctors don’t feel under immediate threat of legal action and can therefore be open and honest about their mistakes and I know there’s been some discussion about internal morality and so on at this inquiry and I feel very strongly that unless doctors are able to be open, both individually and as a group, even maybe whole specialties, unless they are able to do that sort of work in an atmosphere in which they don’t expect to be taken to Court, I think patients are likely to suffer.  So in theory the ACC should be beneficial, if only we had proper evaluation and monitoring.

Q:   	But in the absence of proper evaluation and monitoring and in the absence of it being possible  to take cases to Court except in rare incidences where one claims gross negligence and exemplary damages, what is the overall impact from your perspective as an epidemiologist on the health service?

A:   	Well as I say I think the overall situation is very unsatisfactory but I’m not, and obviously I’m not a lawyer, but I’m not convinced that it will be improved by removing the ACC arrangements.



MR HINDLE CONTINUES XXN OF WITNESS

MR HINDLE:   	From the heady subject of privacy and public welfare to some more mundane subjects before I close, I think you are aware of the evidence that was given to the inquiry by Mr Ron Jones.

A:   	Yes.

Q:   	And in particular that he referred to a thing he called a prospective audit.  Do you understand that audit in concept to be any different to that that you are proposing.  How do you see the two, as the same or different.

A:   	No I don’t and I think it would be a pity if people were confused by these terms retrospective and prospective.  Epidemiologists have been saying for many years that the term retrospective is best actually avoided because unfortunately different people use it in different ways.  What as I understand it Dr Jones was recommending was something very similar to what Dr Cox is hoping to carry out.  It's the same sort of thing that we are proposing in Tairawhiti which is a retrospective study of the histories of women who’ve developed cervical cancer.  To find out what smears they’ve had in the passed and so on.  What Dr Jones is saying is yes that sort of study should be done, and on ongoing basis, and on those grounds he calls it prospective, but from the view point of an epidemiologist it will still be retrospective.  He’s not suggesting that we follow every single woman who has had a smear in his study, he’s going to start with people who’ve got cancer and then look back which is why the term retrospective is used so when he said it was prospective I wasn’t I don’t think meaning it would have any different principal in terms of it's design, it's just that it should  be an ongoing process with which I strongly agree.

Q:   	Thank you.  Finally I’m going to ask Madam Registrar to show you a document and I’ve already circulated copies to my friends last night.  There’s been a good deal of discussion in the inquiry about the availability of cervical cancer incidence and mortality data.  Do you recognise the document I’ve just show you?

A:   	Yes I do.

Q:   	And what is it?

A:   	It's a document that Dr Ann Richardson has produced which lists some of the main published sources of data on cervical cancer incidence of mortality that are available in New Zealand.

Q:   	Thank you now before I ask you any questions on it I’ll ask Madam Registrar to allocate an exhibit number.



CHAIR ADDRESSES MR HINDLE

CHAIR:   	Could we have the article produced as an exhibit as well please, we’ll make copies and then return you’re copy to you.

MR HINDLE:   	The Karen Patasi letter?  Yes.  I should mention Madam Chair that the heading about pain killers while lawyers laugh is actually not about her letter by another one!

[DCGS/CA/027 and 28 produced]



MR HINDLE CONTINUES XXN OF WITNESS

MR HINDLE:   I wonder if you could just take up the document now, given Exhibit No. 28.   The evidence in this Inquiry has, I don’t think it unfair to say, indicated the importance of having up-to-date incidence data for cervical cancer – not only nationally but also regionally.  Let me start with this question:   as an epidemiologist do you see that as an important piece of information that you might need to use?

A:    Yes, I think it is.

Q:    I wonder if I could ask you to answer this question in respect of each entry on this table.  How useful is that data to someone wanting to analyse the state of the screening programme in any particular region?

A:    well I don’t think it would be helpful for me to go through every single one, because in fact some of them I haven't seen, and I think Dr Richardson has produced a very comprehensive list of published cancer data.  



CHAIR:   Just pause there.  My understanding is that you actually don’t have knowledge of all this information.

MR HINDLE:   Well, as Professor Skegg said –

CHAIR:   Just pause.  Professor Skegg said that he hasn’t seen some of these documents.

WITNESS:    I haven't seen every one of them.   For example, I haven't seen the Canterbury Area Health Board’s status profile.  I think I've seen all the ones that would provide national regional data.

CHAIR:   Well we just have a problem because it’s Dr Richardson who’s manufactured this document.   She could be questioned about these sources of information, whether they were accurate or not.  If Professor Skegg is not actually familiar with all of the sources of information on the document, he can't really produce it.

MR HINDLE:   Well, he could certainly produce it in respect of those in respect of which he is familiar.

CHAIR:   Well we will go through each one separately.

MR HINDLE:   Well perhaps we can start, Professor Skegg, by just getting you to identify which of those publications listed on the left that you are not familiar with.

MR HODSON:   Ma'am, it’s occurred to me, I've just canvassed counsel behind me, we would certainly consent to the document going in as is.

CHAIR:   You’d be happy would you?  What is the attitude of everyone else?

MR MURRAY:   We don’t have a problem with that.   We have an affidavit from someone from the NZHIS, I think this is the sort of territory where, if we are forensic, we could spend a lot of time on it and not work out what the answer is.  So if Professor Skegg can identify ones he hasn’t seen, we can put an * beside it.

CHAIR:   Yes, because I would like to ask him questions about the ones he has seen to see just how helpful they are.  It’s not really so much what is out there but what use can be made of what is out there that interests the Inquiry.

MR HINDLE:   Could I make one point though Madam Chair.

CHAIR:   Yes.

WITNESS:   I actually think it would be unrealistic to expect published documents to provide the information that’s needed to evaluate the Cervical Screening Programme.  As you can see, there's a great range of publications, but as someone who might be interested in doing such an evaluation it wouldn't occur to me to have to use volumes sitting on library shelves;  I would go straight to the source of the data, and anyone else can do that.   So really the point – and whether or not this is accepted as an exhibit – I would want to make is that regional data are available, and have been available.   I was interested to read in the transcript of Dr Farnsworth’s evidence, she said “Yes, we have regional data in Australia.   Oh yes, well it’s only for NSW.”   Well NSW has the same population as NZ, probably a larger population.  So I don’t think it’s remarkable that these reports from the Cancer Registry don’t provide regional data, but my experience of seeking such information from the Cancer Registry is that they’ve been unfailingly helpful;  they often have difficulties with resources but it would have been no problem for the people responsible for the National Cervical Screening Register to obtain this information.  It could have been provided very quickly.   So I don’t think one would necessarily expect it to be in reports that are published for general consumption.

CHAIR:   Well, it would be helpful to have your comment on the reports listed in this document that you are familiar with and any other reports you know of, because to date we have heard evidence from witnesses, Dr Duncan the medical officer health officer for example from Tairawhiti was one person, and Dr Van der Mark about what they say is the lack of helpful statistical information that would allow them to do their jobs better.  And we are interested to find out firstly what is available, and secondly, how helpful is that information and what other sort of information are these medical practitioners wanting that is not available, because from the perspective of the committee having to write a report, if we’re going to deal with this issue of availability of statistical information in NZ, we have to be very clear about what is available, what isn't available, what would be nice to have for a practitioner to do his/her job.

A:    Yes.  I have looked at the list now and there's only two that I haven't seen.  One is on p2, the third row, the Canterbury Area Health Board Health Status Profile, and the other one is on p3, the penultimate entry, cervical cancer changing trends in the Wellington – Oh, sorry I have seen that one actually, that was published in the NZ Medical Journal.   So it’s only 1 actually that I haven't seen.  And these all provide useful information but none of them would have provided exactly what I understand Dr Van de Mark and Dr Duncan were interested in.

CHAIR:   What is that?

A:    they wanted to know whether Tairawhiti, the Tairawhiti area had an unusually high incidence of cervical cancer.  Now there's two points about that.   The first thing is that the really important thing is that we have an adequate Cancer Registry to collect that information.  And as I mentioned in my first evidence, the Cancer Registry has been in a marginal state of health for a long time and there have been times when its very survival has been in question.   But assuming that the Cancer Registry has the data, and I believe it does at the moment, I would not expect a Medical Officer of Health, such as Dr Duncan, to have to rely on publications such as these.   In any country where there are public health medicine specialists part of their job is to obtain an analyse data about the health of the population for which they are responsible, and it would have been not a difficult matter for Dr Duncan to contact the Cancer Registry or those responsible for the National Cervical Screening Register and ask for that information.   Clearly it’s been provided for the Inquiry quite rapidly.

CHAIR:   Yes.

A:    And I think he’s correct that he expected it to be provided centrally, and I think it should have been something that those monitoring the programme would have been doing as a matter of routine.   But failing that, he would have been able to obtain the information with a telephone call, and I would have expected Dr Van der Mark to be able to do that herself or through Dr Duncan.

CHAIR:   My understanding of Dr Van der Mark’s evidence was that she said that there was a fee of $800 which she thought related to the Cancer Registry but we then heard from Dr Duncan it was the NZHIS.

A:    Oh well the Cancer Registry is part of the NZHIS, and certainly it’s true that in recent years when one wants to obtain any information of this kind there is often a charge and this is true also with the Dept of Statistics, if one wants information about population or numbers of abortions or anything else there often is quite a substantial charge, often much larger than $800.  And I regret that, but it’s part of the user pays system that we now have.  And it could be argued that actually it’s almost essential as a threshold.  It could argued that to have some charge is desirable given that the Cancer Registry is run on such a shoestring, and I hope that if evidence is taken you will find out exactly what its staffing is of fully committed people.  If they were snowed under with all sorts of requests which could come from example skilled children doing projects and so on which they would be obliged to reply to under the Official Information Act.  It could be argued, I don’t know whether this is part of the reason, that if there wasn’t some cost involved that they would be blocked from doing their regular work.  I don’t think $800 is a large amount for a health authority.  It would be equivalent to a few days medication for one patient with some diseases so I don’t think that should have stopped the Tairawhiti Health limited from finding out about the incidence of cancer in their region if they felt that was something they needed to know.

Q:   	So from your knowledge then the information is available?

A:   	Yes.

Q:   	And in terms of the information published by the New Zealand Health Information Service in it's annual reports, how helpful is that information to a public health specialist in the context of cervical screening?

A:   	I think it's generally helpful but I think there clearly could be more done with the information and I would see that as the responsibility of those monitoring the programme.

Q:   	Does the information then that is presently available go far enough?

A:   	Well in terms of publications yes I believe it does.  I would like – I’m sure that there was more epidemiological analysis of the data, I would hate to sound complacent, I think that there certainly is room for improvement but on the other hand I would not want to imply that these reports are seriously inadequate.  I think they are of a very similar standard to reports from Cancer Registry’s in Australia and other parts of the world.

Q:   	In terms though of allowing someone to look at the statistical information and perhaps detect the possibility  of under-reporting and trigger a further investigation, is the statistical information that is currently available in respect of the programme sufficient to enable a public health officer to do that?

A:   	Well I think the answer to that is a public health officer should not expect to be able to asses under-reporting using such a crude indicator as the incidence of cancer in his or her region and one of the problems with this regional data, and this may well by way the National Cancer Register doesn’t routinely provide analysis by the old area Health Board regions is that our population is so small that we had 14 Area Health Board’s and in an area like the Tairawhiti region the population is so small that the rates are very unstable from year to year.  Now it's very easy for us sitting here now with the wisdom of hindsight to divide the last ten years up into two periods and say oh look Tairawhiti in the second period was so high but if it was done on an annual basis, people looking at the report would obtain quite a spurious impression.  The other thing is that the main factors determining the variation in cervical cancer incidence are not confined to cervical screening and if I might just comment on one point in Dr Farnsworth’s evidence she implied that the big variations around the world in the incidence of cervical cancer are related to screening, the presence or absence of screening, those huge differences were present even before there was any cervical screening.  There have always been major differences in the occurrence of cervical cancer in different groups around the world and for example the high rate in maori women cannot solely be explained by poor cervical screening, far from it.  So the variation that occurs in different parts of New Zealand will reflect these other social economic and ethnic factors as well as screening so I don’t believe that that, although it's useful contributory information, the main way to find out whether we’ve got under-reporting is to be monitoring the programme in the sort of way we discussed before.

Q:   	But in the absence of being able to monitor the programme, given what is currently available, is the information that is currently available the sort of information that would be likely to put someone on notice that there could be a problem with under-reporting?

A:   	Yes if the problem was so extreme that that had to be relied on but if we think about the different types of information that are needed in order to evaluate the programme, this is one of the best.  This is something where we do, as far as I know, have a complete, a reasonably complete system of cancer registration so our problems are not in obtaining regional data, our problems are the other aspects of the programme that we’ve talked about.

Q:   	With 74A and being able to identify women on the Screening Register and then compare their histories working from the incidence of cancer backwards.

A:   	Yes that's right and to be able to access the cancer registry to be able to do that.



MR HINDLE CONTINUES XXN OF WITNESS

MR HINDLE:   	Just before we move off that topic in the last few answers to Madam Chair you held up a document and you said “this”.  That won’t appear in the transcript.  Can you just say what you were referring to?

A:   	Yes I actually have two documents here.  The first is the one that I think is already an exhibit because it was in my first brief of evidence and I’ll just check on that.

Q:   	There’s an extract in your first brief of evidence of the three pages relating to cervical screening which appears as your exhibit 1 or 3 I think.

A:   	Yes exhibit 1, it was entitled cancer new registrations and deaths 1995 and was published in 1999.  The one which I waved, I’m sorry, is the one which has just appeared, which is the next edition, cancer new registrations and deaths 1996 and I’m happy to leave a copy, I brought an extra copy especially.



CHAIR ADDRESSES MR HINDLE

CHAIR:   	Mr Hindle are they the publications that Mr Murray had from the NZHIS?  They’re not.



MS SHOLTENS REPLIES

MS SHOLTENS:	Perhaps I could assist.  This latter publication is to be produced in an affidavit by Mr Cohen from the Cancer Registry.



CHAIR REPLIES

CHAIR:   	Right.  There were some publications that Mr Murray had.  I’d like the witness to have a look at those documents and to comment on those please.



MR HINDLE CONTINUES XXN OF WITNESS 

MR HINDLE:   	You’ve just been shown copies of documents under the title Purchasing for your Health.   Can you just identify which those are on the table that's been prepared?

A:   	I don’t think they are.  I’m relieved to say.

Q:   	Do you understand what they are.  Are you familiar with them?

A:   	I don’t feel familiar enough with them to comment.

Q:   	Well we’ll just put them to one side then.



CHAIR ADDRESSES WITNESS

CHAIR:   	Well we’ve got a break coming up soon.  I would actually like Professor Skegg to go through those documents because Mr Murray referred to them before and I’d like him to, if you could take a break now and you could just quickly look through the index and be in a position to comment when we come back.







MR HINDLE CONTINUES XXN OF WITNESS 

MR HINDLE:   	Maybe I can just deal with one other matter and then see where we get to.  You were having a discussion with Madam Chair about the cost of getting information from the Cancer Register and I just want to get your comment on an observation that Dr Duncan made about that.  Dr Duncan is from the Tairawhiti Healthcare and whilst I think he in evidence acknowledged that it was good to have a discipline, a financial discipline, so that one wasn’t asking too many questions of the Register, he also said that having a charge for information meant that as a practicing public health officer he couldn’t sit in his office and ask silly questions and muse about what if, and that he felt that represented a break on how he could effectively consider the programme in his area.  Do you have a comment on that?

A:   	Yes I completely understand his concern.  I’m sure he wouldn’t just be asking silly questions.  I mean this is the problem about erecting barriers to the obtaining of information.  I mean we spend a lot of money collecting information but it's sad if there are barriers, either financial or administrative of whatever to using it and I don’t think it's confined to the Cervical Screening Programme.  As I said in my first brief I think it's a feature of the whole New Zealand Health system and probably our society in general.  There isn’t nearly enough research and monitoring and evaluation going on and asking questions and I believe this inquiry has resulted from that climate but I wouldn’t like to focus on this particular charge because I think it would be unfair to do so.  I think that the National Health Information Service is part of a Government where user charges are required and were required by the previous Government and still are by this Government so we’re all responsible as the people who’ve elected these various Governments.

Q:   	But on the other hand is it possible  to have some sympathy for Dr Duncan when he says well yes maybe the information is there but there is a block on my asking silly questions and thinking about the data in lateral ways?

A:   	Yes I certainly do have sympathy.



MR HINDLE ADDRESSES CHAIR

MR HINDLE:   	Ma’am that was all I wanted to ask.  You have a question for Professor Skegg about those documents.  It might be convenient to take the break now and then he can deal with them after we resume.

CHAIR:   	Yes and also your answer to the last question as you’ve said, you had some concerns?

MR HINDLE:   	I’m sorry I can’t recall what that was in relation to. 

CHAIR:   	I didn’t quite hear it.

MR HINDLE:   	I didn’t hear that either ma’am.  I had put the proposition that one could have some sympathy with Dr Duncan if he said he couldn’t ask silly questions and the witness I think agreed with that.  That was all I heard.

CHAIR:   	Yes that's what I heard, I thought there was a follow up question and comment to that.  I obviously missed it.  It's alright.  We’ll adjourn now until 11:15.





INQUIRY ADJOURNS AT 10:52 UNTIL 11:15



�

THE HEARING RESUMED AT 11.18 A.M.



MR HINDLE:   Professor Skegg before the break you were asked to look at four documents that I handed to you.  Have you done so?

A:    Yes, I have.

Q:    Now Madam Chair had some questions about those documents for you.



CHAIR:   Firstly, we should identify the documents.   Do you please just read out the titles of each document?

A:    Yes, I will.  The first one is “Purchasing for Your Health”, a performance report on the first year of the Regional Health Authorities and the Public Health Commission, and the date given is 1993 to 1994.  The other three documents have the same general title, “Purchasing for Your Health”, and the next one is also the RHAs and the Public Health Commission, and they're for 3 successive periods, 1994 to 1995;  1995 to 1996 and 1996 to 1997.

Q:    What assistance are those documents in respect of gaining information about cervical cancer and the operation of the screening programme?

A:    Well they are very limited assistance.  I think the nature of these documents really is betrayed by their title “Purchasing for Your Health”, they clearly are in a sense public relations documents to some extent.

Q:    Have you had sufficient time to look through them to come to that conclusion?

A:    Yes.  I’m not saying that in a pejorative sense – well, it’s partly pejorative, but it’s the nature of the document.  It’s trying to give a sort of school report on the whole health system and one concern I do have in NZ is that most of this sort of analysis of health data is inevitably in our system done by the Ministry of Health who are responsible to a minister, and it is very difficult for a Ministry to embarrass its Minister.   So there is a very strong political influence on reports of this nature.  That was one of the rationales for having a Public Health Commission at arm’s length from the government so there would be some independent analysis and monitoring.  So that’s just a general statement about the reports.   When we focus on cervical cancer they really provide very limited information and actually there is more information of the same kind in one of the documents cited in the table that I presented, “Progress on Health Outcome Targets”.   Fortunately because cervical cancer is one of the health problems that has been selected for prime consideration it does appear in the annual reports with that title and they provide similar information to these but give a bit more detail.   But one thing I just might mention is if one looks at the exhibit that we are talking about – No. 28, the bottom of p2, “Progress in Health Outcome Targets” were published every year but the 1999 report has not yet appeared.   So that again is a concern that the information, such as it is, is not being analysed for public consumption.

Q:    In respect of the publications “Purchasing for Your Health” over the various years, you’ve said they provided limited information.   Just so that the committee has an understanding of what is limited about the information, could you just simply refer to the information and describe what in your view makes it limited.

A:    Well the first one 1993/1994 really just gives some general background about cervical screening and gives some very basic information about progress on enrolling women on the Register.  The next report, 1994/1995, provides enrollment rates in the 4 RHA areas and by that time the overall % enrolled was 63%.  And this one does provide incidence data by region, by the RHAs.  I notice that here they started this unusual practice of citing incidence rates for women aged 20 to 69.  I just mention that as an aside because I think these are the ones that get us into problems when we compare them with overseas data.

Q:    Why is that?

A:    Well the point is that people under 20 don’t get cervical cancer, or extremely rarely, and of course there are a lot of people under 02 in the population, so if one just focuses on what we epidemiologists call a truncated age range the incidence rate is much higher than in the total population.  And so you can see for those who have this document the incidence rate for cervical cancer for NZ is quoted as 1.8/10,000 women.  Now we can multiply that by 10 to get the incidence/100,000, which is the usual one quoted.   That’s 18/100,000.  But actually the overall incidence was 9 or 10.  You really have to divide by 2 roughly to get a result that’s comparable with the usually quoted figures.   And for the Midland region, and the interesting thing is the Midland region really stuck out in this table, it’s incidence rate was 2.6 or 26/100,000.   The next highest were northern and central with 1.6 or 16.   As I say, I would emphasise that that 26 has to roughly be divided by 2, it’s probably about 13/100,000 in the usually quoted form.  So this did draw attention to the high rate of cervical cancer in the Midland RHA, but there is no discussion of that or any further analysis offered.   And there is also a figure which shows the numbers of registrations of cervical cancer since 1980 and it shows an increasing number – these actually aren't rates, but it shows an increasing number during the 1980s and then sort of flattening off around 1990 and then declining from 1991 onwards.

Q:    Could you just say the page numbers of those?

A:    Those page numbers are pages 41 and 42.

Q:    Of the?

A:    Of the 1994/1995 publication.   Moving on now to the 1995/1996 publication, this one again focuses on the enrollment rates in the register and by now the % enrolled is up to 71% and again it shows this for the different regions, and I notice that the Midland region is as high as any in NZ.  In fact they're all very similar.  The northern region is 69% and the 3 other regions are 72%.  It shows the % change and so on but it doesn't any longer provide incidence data by region.  Again it shows a figure with the numbers of registrations/year and it shows that number actually, the small decline that occurred around 1990 has flattened off. I've so far been quoting pp170 and 171.  On p172 it mentions in the text a low number of enrollments for Tairawhiti, 68% was reported by the midland RHA and for Hawkes Bay 67%.   But these actually aren't particularly low.   The Tairawhiti was 68%, the Northern region was 69%, so although it’s clear the Midland RHA were keen to increase enrollment Tairawhiti was not particularly unusual at that time.   So that’s the 95/96 one.  1996/97 the relevant pp145 and 146, and here again we have very similar data – in fact it seems to be almost reducing year by year;  once again there's a table of enrollment rates which are now up to 82%, and in the Midland region – that’s for the whole of NZ and 84% for the Midland region.   Again there is no information about the incidence of invasive cancer by region.  There's a figure showing the increase and enrollments on the programme and now the figure is an improvement on the other ones because the other ones were just numbers of cases which of course don’t take account of the age of the population and so on.  Now they provide age standardised rates/100,000 population and again these – no these are not truncated rates, these are now total rates, and you can see how people get confused because the age range isn't quoted.  But now non-Maori New Zealanders are running at about 9 or 10, which is what we would expect for the total population, and it does show the decline, the small decline in incidence in non-Maori New Zealanders and a somewhat larger decline from a higher level among Maori women up to 1994.  So really that is the information, the main information that’s provided.

Q:    And in terms of someone co-ordinating the programme or a public health officer working in an area concerned to ensure the programme is running effectively, how helpful is the information given in those repots?

A:    Well it’s not very helpful but I would not expect such people to rely on a document such as this.

Q:   	No, alright thank you.



MR HINDLE CONTINUES XXN OF WITNESS 

MR HINDLE:   	Just arising out of those questions, lets perhaps just tidy up something that came up in the inquiry when Dr Farnsworth was giving evidence.  You can take it from me that the rate of 30 per 100,000 that is quoted for the Tairawhiti area in the Jim DuRose materials is a truncated rate as you’ve described it and during the course of her evidence Dr Farnsworth offered other rates for Australia of 9 per 100,000 and Vietnam of I think 26 or 27 per 100,000.  Her conclusion was I think referred to a third world rate of cancer in this area.  Do you have a comment on that?

A:   	Yes I do because I must say it did concern me that the people living in this region have had so much bad news and to have that publicised seemed most unfortunate because Dr Farnsworth wasn’t quite mistaken.  She based it on I think Mr DuRose’s evidence on tab 1 page 12 which shows age adjusted rates per 100,000 for women aged 20-69, if people have that document in the right hand column and this showed the Tairawhiti area with an incidence rate of 30 per 100,000 and you’ll see that the total rate for New Zealand is 19.7 per 100,000, that was for 1990-1995.  Now from the data that I think was tabled with my first evidence, the rate for New Zealand the age standardised incidence rate for maori and non maori combined in the early 1990’s was around about 11 or 12.

Q:   	That's were your denominator is all females in the population.

A:   	That's right.  It's not the latest year, 1997 was 8.8 per 100,000.  So very similar to NSW and it may be that my colleague Dr Cox has been able to actually do the calculations I don’t know but one could calculate rates for Tairawhiti that are comparable to the internationally quoted ones but I would estimate that the rate for Tairawhiti is about 15, not 30, one has to roughly halve this data to take account of the fact that as I say all females under 20 are excludes so that the rate in Tairawhiti is high by world standards and by the standards of developed countries, but it is certainly not comparable to third world countries where cervical cancer is a much greater problem than it is in this area.



CHAIR INTERJECTS AND XXN WITNESS

CHAIR:   	In saying that what you’re saying is that the table on page 12 of exhibit 1 DuRose gives cancer registrations for women age 20-69 in age adjusted rates.  Are you saying that for example the NSW cancer registrations would be based on female population rather than females aged between  20-69.

A:   	Yes I know that for certain.



MR HINDLE ADDRESSES CHAIR

MR HINDLE:   	That's all I wanted to ask thank you ma’am.



CHAIR ADDRESSES INQUIRY

CHAIR:   	Does anyone have any questions?  Mr Murray, anyone else, Mr Grieve, Ms Thorpe and Mr Hodson and Mr Kirton.  Is there any agreement about order.  

MR MURRAY:   	I’ll go first ma’am.

CHAIR:   	We take Mr Murray first, Mr Hodson you next.

MR HODSON:   	I’m usually last ma’am I’m happy with that.

CHAIR:   	Your happy to go last very well.  Ms Thorpe, Mr Kirton, Mr Grieve and then Mr Hodson, that gives some order.



MR MURRAY XXN WITNESS

MR MURRAY:   	Professor Skegg I think you said that you’d had enough time to familiarise yourself with Mr DuRose’s evidence.

A:   	Yes.

Q:   	Albeit quickly after you’d come back from overseas but I take it your referring to the brief of evidence and the exhibit volume that he produced is that correct?

A:   	Yes I’m not sure what other evidence – I also was present yesterday but did not hear his evidence on Sat.

Q:   	No and have you had a chance to read the transcript.

A:   	I haven’t.

Q:   	I just want to pick up this point that you made earlier that the study was done on the basis of assessing and reviewing smears done by laboratories rather than the women that the smears related to.  Perhaps I could just refer you though to start with to exhibit 2 of Mr DuRose at page 22 there.  Just give you a minute to look at it.  Now as I understand it this shows that at the early stages of the review the Health Funding Authority and it's advisors did some runs on different smears so that if you would take all smears or highest smear only or last smear only for each woman rather than all the smears, and also that doing that run showed that there was less than 10% variation between  laboratories after taking account of indirect standardisation being applied for age of women and applying a depravation index.  Now I just want to suggest to you that although it was a review of smears even if one had just done it on the basis of women, this information indicates the outcome would have not been much difference.  I just wonder if you can comment on that.

A:   	For clarification did you say that the rates between  laboratories were not more than 10%.

Q:   	Yes well what happened was that an indirect standardisation was applied using age of the women and the deprivation index.  I don’t know what the deprivation index is but I can guess and that when that was applied to these figures the variation between  the laboratories was not significant, it was only 10%.

A:   	I don’t see results for the laboratories having standardised for those factors.  It just shows a difference, the first column shows the unstandarised rate and the next column shows a difference but I would be very surprised if it's not more than a 10% variation between  those laboratories.  It seems to be completely at variance with Mr DuRose’s evidence that there was quite marked variation between  laboratories.

Q:   	But not on the basis of these smear runs for all smears for a particular woman, higher smear for a particular woman, or last smear for a particular woman.

A:   	I find it hard to comment.  I don’t even know what the run – it's very hard just presented with a table of data like this to give the comment that I think your seeking.

Q:   	Well I suppose just taking it a step at a time I’m just suggestion to you that although it was a review of slides, some work was done to take account of the fact that there would have been more than one slide per woman and so that this was not ignored and this was taken into account at the early stages of the review and that's why these smear runs were done which would be appropriate wouldn’t it.  It's just another check.

A:   	I accept that some consideration was given to this in the early stages of the review but it doesn’t alter my observation that the main analysis is based on smears rather than women.

Q:   	Perhaps if I put to you another point, I think you raising the point that the early stages of the work may not have had input from an epidemiologist or statistician.

A:   	Yes.

Q:   	If I could just read you what Mr DuRose said on Sat morning.  He was asked by Professor Duggan did you have input from an epidemiologist and a biostatitician on the design and analysis of the …. and then he was cut off with the answer.  “I had assisting me” – this is Mr duRose – “for exhibit 2 for the preliminary analysis a statistician, a research analyst in the Health Funding Authority and he has a Masters degree of statistics.   We would also liaise with the Health Funding Authority epidemiologist in working that through” – for the record that’s Dr Barry Boreman – “the research analysis did some indirect standardisation and so on and found different ways to look at that primarily on the 1996/98 data so we were trying to look at some of the variability and found about less than 10% between laboratories reporting rates due to age and we used the deprivation index for that.”   Does that give you a little bit more reassurance that some of these issues you are raising were actually factored in at an early stage of this review?

A:    Well it gives me very limited reassurance.  I think the point I was trying to make was not that no statistical input occurred at any stage, and I’m sure there were all sorts of analyses done and these tables give evidence of that.  What I was trying  to convey is that when one is dealing with a complex situation such as this, following the observations about the situation in Gisborne, I think it’s essential to have a really experienced biostatistician and epidemiologist, probably several, or a panel, involved from the outset and throughout the exercise to plan it and to evaluate the information that’s obtained.   I wouldn't pretend that it was easy at all to do what had to be done.  But I don’t think that as much has been done as could have been to analyse the data adequately, and I don’t think there was.  If I can comment specifically on what you quoted from Saturday, I don’t think what Mr duRose described is anything like the sort of input that I would have expected from experts in quantitative analysis throughout the exercise.

Q:    Perhaps I could refer you to another exhibit, which is exhibit 1 of Mr duRose at p21 of that exhibit.  To those of us who are uninitiated, we would look at a laboratory review exercise like the one undertaking by Mr duRose and we would see that there were various expert groups organised to manage the review, and I think lay people would be very impressed with the array of talent, if I can put it that way, that was incorporated into this exercise from the very start to the very finish, and therefore I wonder why you are questioning some of these things when such eminent people as are listed there and the different evaluation and advisory groups, for example, clearly would have been aware of all these issues that you’ve mentioned.

A:    Well, there certainly is an impressive array of talent, and I certainly wouldn't want to question the expertise of any of those people in their own areas of expertise, and I think Mr duRose described the process in which these various people were brought in.   they were certainly not all involved from the start to finish, as you say.  For example, the cancer epidemiologist, Dr Mary Jane Sneade, who is 3 rows from the bottom, is a member of my dept.  I think I may have been involved in suggesting her involvement either to someone in the Ministry or the Health Funding Authority, and that was only a couple of months ago I think – two or three months ago, so she was brought in at a late stage.  I think that may also be true of Ms Coney and Dr Baxter and so on.  I think that committee had a much more recent involvement.  And the people involved earlier certainly are experts in pathology;  some of them internationally recognised experts.  But I don’t think they would claim expertise in the design of a quantitative study of this kind to evaluate some of the questions that needed to be answered.

Q:    I think they were engaged because they did have that expertise, and we've heard evidence that there was no dissent from the final drafts of the documents that have been brought before the Inquiry.   So what is the panel to make of this?   We've got all these experts, I grant you not being involved at – all of them are not involved at every step of the way, but there are stages which the process has moved through, all of which have had some of these experts involved.  And just taking the epidemiologist on your staff, you would expect someone like Dr Snead to raise a concern, if there was a concern, about the nature of the laboratory review wouldn't you?

A:    Well I have a considerable sympathy for all the various experts involved in this process, having been involved in similar things myself in the past.  When one, and I hesitate to describe myself as an expert in anything, but when one agrees to take part in something like this one doesn't claim to be omni-competent, one is only expected to be part of a multi-disciplinary group and you bring your own experience and knowledge, such as it is, to the process.   That doesn't mean that you give a sort of imprimatur to the whole exercise.  And I don’t think it is correct that the whole group authored the report that Mr duRose presented.  In fact I think I heard him say yesterday that “yes, the committee saw the executive summary and no-one complained and yes they probably received a copy in the mail by now” – something like that.   That’s very different from an independent group writing a report.   Now I may have mis-quoted him, but I realise this exercise was done under considerable time pressure, presumably so that it could be submitted in time for this Inquiry.  But I don’t think it is appropriate to assume that all of these individuals have signed off Mr duRose’s evidence in total, or that they would necessarily have gone about the process in the same way if they had been involved from the outset and had contributed to its planning and perhaps been able to recommend other expertise that could have been included.



PROFESSOR DUGGAN:   Professor Skegg, the committee have been listening to this interesting interchange, which leads me to ask you this question:   What significance, if any, should the committee place on the results of this project – co-ordinated by Mr duRose?

A:    Well that’s a very general, big question, and obviously you’ll have to be the judge of that.  All I can say is that the data as presented, in my view do not provide convincing evidence that the experience that has occurred in Tairawhiti is exceptional and that I believe one cannot rule out the possibility that similar problems may have occurred elsewhere.



CHAIR:   So you are saying in your view, on the strength of the du Rose study, you can't exclude the possibility that there may be systemic problems with the programme?

A:    Yes I do, and I mean it concerns me that the evidence, such as it is, appears to show a lack of monitoring over a considerable period of time that, again, would force me to be cautious about coming to a complacent conclusion.  If I may give one example.

Q:    Yes.

A:    In Mr duRose’s brief, I think – sorry, in exhibit 1, p35, we have the results for laboratory AE and these results were discussed yesterday, I realise, but I just wanted to focus on one aspect.   The histology/cytology correlation was 27% as reported which is extremely low.  Now further down the page it says under the heading explanation/clarification provided by the laboratory, the evaluation panel initially had some questions about current practice that have been adequately resolved by the pathologist’s confirmation that coding and data entry errors contributed significantly to the very low rate of correlation of high grade histology and cytology 27%.  This was due to the inappropriate use of a code for glandular dysplasia.    Now when it says that that miscoding contributed significantly does that mean that it brought the figure up from 27% to 80% or 60% or 30%.  We have no knowledge of that.  Mr DuRose said in a very general sense yesterday, yes well when it's adjusted for I’m sure it will go some way or make quite a difference but I would expected a simple coding error to be correct so that we could have had the figures.  The other things that concern me about this is given that we have a Register and this information has been collected, if this information comes from the early 1990’s why did nobody notice?  Why is it only because of the Tairawhiti experience that someone has noticed that a laboratory is miscoding it's histology data and is reporting a histology cytology correlation data rate which is clearly unacceptable.  And then at the end of that paragraph from which I’ve just quoted it says, the pathologist has also identified – because this laboratory I should say that it also had a low rate of reporting of high grades, it was also of concern for that reason and the sentence I was going to quote at the end of that paragraph – the pathologist has also identified staff attending more conferences and other educational endeavors from 1996 as a reason for increasing detection rate since.  I mean that statement I find very concerning.  First of all we’ve been told that Dr Bottrill attended a conference every year and I’m highly skeptical about the value of attending conferences as an assurance that someone has full expertise and presumably the statement that attending these conferences increased detection rates after 1996 implies that there was a deficiency before 1996 so again I’m not wanting to exaggerate this or make any sort of irresponsible claims but I think one has to be guarded in drawing conclusions from the study as it stands.

Q:   	Well given at the moment you’re saying that your evidence is that the committee should be guarded when reading the DuRose evidence, it actually would be helpful if you could refer us to as many examples which would illustrate why we should be guarded because at the moment we have your general statement, and although as a epidemiologist your statement carries weight, obviously it is much easier for us to come to a decision on whether or not we should be guarded about the DuRose study if we have examples put to us  by you to support your opinion so if you could please.

A:   	Well the most striking example, and I apologise if I’m slight repeating what I said yesterday, but to me it is the crucial litmus test of this exercise is would Dr Bottrill’s laboratory have been a clear outlier.  One has to I think apply that test very rigorously because one knows that this whole exercise was designed to pick up problems such as that in Gisborne so the whole thing is a post hoc exercise that already knows where Gisborne was deficient.  Now yesterday we discussed the evidence that emerged during the examination of Dr Farnsworth by Professor Duggan and if I can just find my notes, I mentioned that of 216 women with high grade abnormalities or cancer, Dr Bottrill reported 37 of those as high grade or cancer.  That's 17%.  Now I hope someone is going to do more work with this and I’m sure a lot of further analysis could be done but on the face of it, that looks like a false negative rate of more than 80% which is breathtaking, it's extremely high so here we have evidence that Dr Bottrill’s reporting was grossly inadequate and yet when we come to these tables, we find not only that, well we know from other evidence that his histology cytology correlation was not unusual for New Zealand laboratories, if one looks at exhibit 1 in Mr DuRose’s evidence on page 26 it can be seen that the Gisborne laboratory had a percentage of high grades of 0.57% which is above the threshold and there were 4 laboratories in New Zealand with a lower reporting so here we have on the one hand an extremely high false negative rate in Gisborne, you know I’d be surprised if there was any other study like this in the world which would show such poor identification of high grade abnormalities or cancer and yet when one looks, and I know there are other issues that can be raised about the Gisborne laboratory with the wisdom of hindsight such as the fact that Dr Bottrill was the primary screener, but on the basis of the analysis he does not emerge as a clear outlier.  I would like to presume that that portraits a deficiency in the study not that it's evidence that there are – there are two possible conclusions about this.  One is that yes this is a completely robust study and therefore we’ve got a major national problem.  The other explanation which I prefer is that it's unlikely that the problems in Gisborne have occurred elsewhere, the problem is that this study has limitations and has been unable to demonstrate the difference so I’m not saying that there is a systemic problem, I’m just saying I don’t believe the evidence presented allows anyone to conclude that there is no systemic problem.

Q:   	And so in respect of the laboratories G-P on page 26 which are lower than Gisborne laboratories, without doing a in depth analysis of those laboratories and perhaps a clinical audit of the cases of cancer dealt with by those laboratories, how can we be sure that those laboratories also have not been under-reporting.

A:   	Well one can’t be sure and that's also true of some of the other laboratories.  As I say I think the overall reporting as you raised this morning is clearly much lower than the reporting by Sydney and that raises the question of whether there could be systematic under-reporting.  I’m certainly not claiming that but I think that one does have to be guarded.

Q:   	Yes well either the Sydney report has a large number of false positives and it has over-read a lot of slides or perhaps generally there is a tendency in New Zealand to under-call slides or under-report slides.

A:   	Yes or it could be a combination of those factors which may well be the most likely explanation.



PROFESSOR DUGGAN INTERJECTS AND XXN WITNESS

PROFESSOR DUGGAN:   	Could I ask you to go to page 4 of exhibit 1.  This page is labeled executive summary and here the objective of the practice review is laid out.  Perhaps I’ll just read – has been to gather enough evidence to establish whether community laboratories in New Zealand were practicing within acceptable standards in their reporting of cervical cytology during the period 1990-1999.

A:   	Yes.

Q:   	Is that an appropriate question to ask?

A:   	Well, it’s a very general statement.  I commented yesterday that I think that it’s unfortunate that there wasn’t, as I understand it, a written protocol developed for this whole exercise with clear objectives, because this statement – first of all, it raises a question of what are acceptable standards.  Now, if that means standards that were acceptable by the majority of laboratories in NZ, that may or may not be adequate.  I think Dr McGoogan has already given evidence that in the UK since the 1980s it has been a requirement that laboratories only do cytological screening if they screen at least 15,000 smears/year – I think I’m correct with that figure.  Now I don’t see any figures in here about the numbers of smears.  It may be that I've missed them, but I suspect that many of these laboratories have been screening much lower numbers than that.  So what may have been acceptable by NZ standards would not be acceptable by UK standards.  And I am concerned that the process that seems to have been followed was to produce these data and then have essentially a small group of pathologists in a room discussing themselves and their peers, which must have been a very difficult problem, particularly since some of them are in hot, commercial competition.   So it is quite a difficult exercise to ask pathologists to sit and then make qualitative judgements about what may or may not be extenuating circumstances in different situations.  So I would have much preferred that there had been a protocol developed, with external input, and that clear standards could have been enunciated and then the laboratories measured against those standards.

Q:    Surely the other point, though, was that they would have been looking to see if there was under-reporting rather than just practising within acceptable standards.   If you were going to do a study and you had time pressures and it was a narrowly focused study to ensure that women were not at risk you would be really focusing on whether or not there had been under-reporting by laboratories?

A:    Yes, but they would have known that they couldn't really get a good handle on that with these data, and so I think it was appropriate to look at other aspects of the practice in different laboratories.   I think the number of smears should have been one of them, but they obviously were interested in pathologists working on their own, the extent to which they did primary screening, whether people were taking slides home to work on and so on.   So I think that was very appropriate that they should have looked at those things, but I think it’s a pity in a way that these different aspects do get mixed here and the data about the proportion of high grades in my view cannot be discounted because of that qualitative information.



PROFESSOR DUGGAN:   Professor Skegg, the term acceptable standards appears to cover the period 1990 to 1999.   Now in this Inquiry we have received much information on many standards for laboratory practice over this particular period of time, plus proposed standards as detailed in Peters exhibit 40. 

A:    Yes.

Q:    Is it clear to you, in the documentation provided, what standards are being used in this review?

A:    No.

Q:    If we could go to one of the questionnaires, any one of them will do actually – let’s go to p52 of exhibit 1.   Would you agree that the questionnaire data combines a mixture of process standards in terms of is targeted re-screening done, is there a cyto-technologist doing the primary screening etc., as well as performance standards in terms of collecting numbers and measuring it against a benchmark?

A:    Can I just I have the same – I’m sorry, there's two lots of numbering and I've been looking at the top of the page.

Q:    Yes, the top of the page, p52.

A:    Sorry, p52.  

Q:    Do you need me to repeat what I said?

A:    Yes, please, thank you.

Q:    Do you agree with me that the questionnaire data has a mixture of process standards and performance standards.   By process standards I mean it tabulates whether a laboratory’s doing a specific activity such as targeted re-screening and so on.

A:    Yes.

Q:    And performance standards in terms of measuring an outcome and comparing that outcome to a benchmark?

A:    Yes I agree entirely.  In fact I think one of the people who wrote a lot about health care evaluation, Dr Donna Bedian? talked about structure process and outcome, and here we have all three.   We have structure, what's available in terms of the workforce.   We've got the process of re-screening and we have some data on the outcome.  

Q:    so you would actually call that very laudable questioning?

A:    yes I would.   The problem comes when they're all integrated like this, with lots of crosses and question marks and so on, these are not pieces of information that can easily be integrated.  It’s very laudable that they should be looked at but it then becomes I think quite difficult to make the final judgment – do you put a tick by that laboratory.   And I don’t think that the evidence presented here gives me enough reassurance that the evaluation can provide complete confidence.

Q:    Can I return to the objective on p4, because the objective is to gather enough evidence to establish whether community laboratories in NZ were practising within acceptable standards.   Do you conclude, or is it an incorrect conclusion, that these laboratories were, their practice was measured against this questionnaire, which is a combination of process and performance?

A:    I presume so.

Q:    It would appear so?

A:    Yes.

Q:    In your opinion is that appropriate given that the standards of laboratory practice over the period 1990/99 did vary and performance standards are not yet introduced into NZ laboratory practice?

A:    Yes well I think the problem is I have real concerns about this phrase “within acceptable standards.”   Basically it means, you know, the way we've done it.  And if you don’t have clearly defined standards you can't determine whether people practice within them or not.  If they are unwritten, certainly extreme departures from those standards will be apparent to anyone, and one can imagine silly suggestions of what would be clearly unacceptable to any sentient humanbeing, but here we've got really quite specific data and in some cases numerical data.   But I don’t believe that there were clearly defined standards, and even this benchmark of 0.5% for the high grade abnormalities does not seem to have any clear historical foundation or scientific foundation, it seems to have been chosen in a totally pragmatic way.

Q:    Professor Skegg in your capacity as an epidemiologist, does the design of the study answer the question posed?

A:    No.



CHAIR:   What is the implication of that?

A:    Well I suspect that the implication actually is that para 8 was written after the study was done and so it doesn't necessarily invalidate the whole study.  I may be wrong, but I wouldn't want to put too much weight on that one para because I think that what perhaps is of concern is that there may not have been clearly defined objectives in advance of this exercise and what’s been provided is a very vague statement. 

A:   	I see this whole exercise as something that was done probably as I said yesterday, planned somewhat on the run, there was a problem in Gisborne, there was a need to find out whether this problem existed elsewhere.  People didn’t want to cause concern by raising the possibility , I think there would have been very strong pressure on those involved, I don’t mean in a vort way but just in sense of not rocking to boat to hopefully find that there wasn’t a problem elsewhere and that's the impression I get reading the document and I’m concerned the first bullet point under 9 is no major concerns have been identified.  It looks as if the exercise was designed to provide reassurance rather than to identify any problems that might exist and to try and deal with them.



PROFESSOR DUGGAN INTERJECTS AND XXN WITNESS

PROFESSOR DUGGAN:   	Could the question be answered with further work?

A:   	No that question is unanswerable because if there were no measurable standards and I may be corrected but if there were no measurable standards I don’t think one could answer the question in regard to the sort of variation that most of us would regard important as far as health care  is concerned.  As I say I think there would be situations where a pathologist clearly, or a laboratory clearly did not practice within acceptable standards, where there were very serious departures from normal practice but one would hope that they would not have occurred.  I mean we know that even TELARC registration was not a required standard in the 1990’s so as I understand the statement, I don’t believe it could be answered in a rigorous fashion.  That's not to say that there could be some individual laboratory that would be shown to have departed from what would normally be regarded as acceptable.



CHAIR INTERJECTS AND XXN WITNESS

CHAIR:   	Could I just ask you to look at page 42 please which is laboratory EK.  There is a summary of the state of this laboratory in the concluding comment on 42 which shows that the laboratory needs further review to clarify the gap in the questionnaire response from 1990-1996 and to understand why reporting of total abnormalities is below the benchmark of 5% through 1991-1999.  You see it was an area where the incidence of cervical cancer in the region was greater than the national average.  Over at page 44 there is a summary of all information known about the laboratory so that might give you more information but I’d like your comments on what this indicates about the laboratory.

A:   	Could I just read the summary if you don’t mind.

Q:   	Certainly.



CHAIR ADDRESSES MR MURRAY

CHAIR:   	While your doing that Professor Skegg just excuse me, Mr Murray I thought I’d raise these issues now because it then gives you the opportunity to question them rather than raising them at the end and then having you come back and question them.

MR MURRAY:   	Sure.



WITNESS REPLIES

A:   	Well obviously this laboratory was a cause of some concern because it's in an area where the cervical cancer incidence is higher than the national average.  We’re not told how much higher and obviously it would be much more useful to know whether it was just 5% higher or an area like Tairawhiti which is about double the national average.  It's total abnormality rate had been consistently below the benchmark of 5% during the whole decade and the rate of reporting high grade abnormalities was below the benchmark of 0.5% in the most recent year 1999, it was in fact 0.44% which clearly is surprising in view of the high incidence of cervical cancer in the area.  The other perhaps source of concern is that of a process or structure nature is that it mentions the pathologist so I presume this was a pathologist working on his or her own which you know is an issue that has been raised in relation to other cases.  It also says it serves an area that’s greater than average in respect of the maori population but again there’s no figures provided about the ethnicity of the screened population even though that information is available on the National Cervical Screening Register and has been collected now for 6 or 7 years.  The pathologist has indicated an exist from cervical cytology an we’re not told, I can’t see why that is and just as a bold statement it appears to be something that we should be reassured about from the way it's presented but it's strange to have no explanation.  The good news is that they had 942 slides that had originally been reported as normal or benign and they were rapid rescreened by another laboratory and no high grade abnormalities were detected.  Now a pathologist would have to advise on the adequacy of that rapid rescreen by one other laboratory and I don’t know what the performance of the other laboratory was by international standards so that would be something that I don’t think I can comment on and similarly a much smaller number of slides were fully primary screened by another laboratory, we’re not told how those slides were selected, what year they came from, were these also ones that had been reported as normal or benign by the first laboratory?  And of course it is a small number.  If we’re talking about an expected incidence of high grades of 0.5% we would only expect 1 out of 200, so it’s actually not an adequate assessment from a statistical point of view.   So, again, I’m not wanting to – obviously I can't come to a conclusion about this laboratory, but on the evidence available, I don’t believe that one could put one’s hand on one’s heart and say “No, there was no problem in this laboratory in 1999”.

Q:    Could you then look, please, at laboratory GG, which is at p47, and there is a letter from this laboratory explaining its under-calling, which appears at p144 of duRose exhibit 6.  Perhaps if you read the letter at 144, exhibit 6, and the evaluation of the laboratory at p47 to 48.

A:    Thank you.  Well, clearly the Health Funding Authority review team itself had concerns about this laboratory.  It had a low reporting for total abnormalities throughout the period, and if one looks at p48, the analysis in the table there from the questionnaire data, about 2/3rds the way down it’s got the heading “Analysis” and it shows the high grade %s and  these show quite a marked trend.  In 1991/93 it was 0.54%.   IN 94/95 it was down to 4.47%, so it was below the benchmark that had been set.   Then in 96/98 it increased to 0.93%, and finally in January to October 99 it was 1.22%.   So although it is explained that this laboratory is an area with a lower than average incidence of cervical cancer, and again we’re not told how much lower, and I’ve already expressed my reservation about these areas because sometimes the smears come from other than the immediate geographic area.  The % of high grades has more than doubled during the 1990s.  Clearly that was of concern to the review panel.   The letter gives some of the explanations as to why the total abnormalities were low, and these appear to be again largely of an information processing type, how the ASCUS category was treated and so on, but looking at the bottom of p47 the advisory group has set out an implementation plan which requires all smears to be re-read unless the woman has – the particular para doesn't define the smears for what period – has a subsequent high grade or high grade cannot be excluded result reported.   The re-reading will be done by the laboratory and then there's an action plan if a re-read slide is confirmed.  It seems to me that this example really confirms my point.  The advisory group itself recommended actions because they had concern that there may have been under-reporting in this laboratory so I’m somewhat at a loss to understand the overall conclusion because the advisory group itself has actually here as I understand it, set out a process to deal with likely under-reporting.

Q:   	For the purposes of term of reference 3 the committee has to determine firstly it's conditional on whether or not it finds there has been an unacceptable level of under-reporting, but if the committee finds that there has been an unacceptable level of under-reporting in Gisborne it must then go on to satisfy itself whether or not this was an isolated case rather than evidence of a systemic issue for the National Cervical Screening Programme.  Now on the basis of the DuRose evidence and exhibits can we use that material to determine whether or not there is evidence of a systemic issue?

A:   	Could I just clarify the meaning of the words systemic issue because as far as the first part of that proposition is concerned, if being an isolated case means that this was unique, I feel strongly that one cannot reach that conclusion.  When one says it's a systemic issue, I presume that means that it may be something that has effected other parts of the system rather than the whole system.  In other words, it could be interpreted to mean that there are systemic problems clearly of monitoring and evaluation and so on and lack of laboratory standards and if one allows that there is a possibility  that the situation in Gisborne has also occurred elsewhere, I would regard that as a systemic issue and certainly I do not believe that can be excluded, but I would not want to imply that every laboratory that the whole system was equally effected I think there is considerable evidence against that.

Q:   	So it's really rather the impact of the DuRose evidence from your perspective and your opinion is that it cannot exclude the possibility  of a systemic issue for the screening programme.

A:   	Yes.

Q:   	Thank you.



MR MURRAY CONTINUES XXN OF WITNESS

MR MURRAY:   	But it does go somewhat towards establishing that there is not a systemic issue for the screening programme doesn’t it?

A:   	No I might have felt more confident if I hadn’t seen it quite honestly.  I would have felt more confident if I had not studied this document so it actually made me feel more concerned rather than less concerned.

Q:   	But haven’t you got a situation where your witness box comments now seem to be different from the multi disciplinary advisory group so it leaves us with this question of does the panel take account of the multi disciplinary advisory group work, which includes your colleague the epidemiologist but it also includes any other disciplines, or do we give precedence now to your quick summary that you have given us from the witness seat there.  If faces us in a bit of difficulty doesn’t it.

A:   	Well I haven’t see, perhaps you could draw my attention to it, I haven’t seen a statement written by the multi disciplinary advisory group, what I see for example in laboratory GG reported is that the advisory group agreed that some quite rigorous actions were required because they had concerns about under-reporting in that particular laboratory.  As I say I haven’t seen a consensus statement from the advisory group that they have concluded that there is no evidence that the under-reporting in Gisborne could not have been replicated somewhere else.

Q:   	As I understand Mr DuRose’s evidence in his brief he summarises the outcome.  No major concerns with respect to the health and wellbeing of women have been identified, the review has identified a number of situations in which smear result codes have been inaccurately reported to the Screening Register and the laboratories concerned are working actively with the programme to rectify this and ensure it does not continue.  The third point is that in general the appropriate current practices in cervical cytology identified from the review align reasonably well with the National Cervical Screening Programme’s draft policy and quality standards and the fourth conclusion was it is also considered that the review has provided a foundation to support the implementation of impending quality standards and monitoring with respect to the National Cervical Screening Programme  and that those conclusions are brought forward to the inquiry on the basis of the advice of the multi disciplinary advisory group.  Now if that's correct and maybe we need to deal with that as a separate issue, but if that's correct, assume the multi disciplinary advisory group is happy with that outcome, what is the panel to make of the present situation where you have raised issues about the detail of the work but the multi disciplinary group including an epidemiologist but also many other professionals seem comfortable with that conclusion.  Where do we go from there?

A:   	Well first of all we set aside the question as to whether the advisory group wrote that statement.  I see it as a statement from Mr DuRose and there is no evidence that it has the support or that it is something that the advisory group has written and I’d be very surprised if they did write that statement because it seems to be inconsistent with the data that follow in the report.  It seems to me rather like these things I referred to, a sort of good news executive summary, no major concerns have been identified, the next bullet point says the review has identified a number of situation in which smear result codes have been inaccurately reported, the laboratories concerned are working actively to rectify this and ensure it doesn’t continue, it doesn’t acknowledge that for example with laboratory GG they didn’t just notice that there were problems with coding, they had clear concerns that there had been under-reporting which would be apparent to anyone who studies this data.  The summary does not disclose that that they prescribed remedial action in terms of following up women for that laboratory.  The next bullet point says that appropriate current practices align reasonably well with the draft policy and quality standards that's a very vague statement and the last one that the review provides the foundation to support the implementation of impeding quality standards, is not really relevant to the issue of whether there was a systemic problem during the 1990’s.

Q:   	So I suppose if the Health Funding Authority didn’t get the advice that you are now giving, we’ve just got this conflict of advice have we?

A:   	Well I see a conflict of advice within the document because it's quite clear that the advisory group identified concerns that were serious enough for them to prescribe quite precisely a course of actin to be followed.

Q:   	And you are aware of Mr DuRose’s evidence that those courses of action are actually being followed?

A:   	They are being followed and this document does not contain the results which I presume are not yet available.

Q:   	Oh I see it's because you haven’t got the answers to the follow up action that you’re concerned is that the nub of it?

A:   	No I’m concerned that the summary which you’ve clearly put considerable emphasis on, does not accurately reflect the content of the document which is that there were concerns identified and that even now the Health Funding Authority is conducting follow up to determine whether those concerns are of major importance or not.

Q:   	I think some of your comments have been premised on the fact that there was no protocol for the study.  I wonder if I could turn you to exhibit 5 page 60 and just get your comments on that.

A:   	I have reviewed this but could I just have a minute or two to look at it again.

Q:   	Sure.  I think just to speed this up a little bit Professor Skegg, I just want to get you to indicate whether or not in fact that is an indication that the study or the review was planned;   and secondly, I suppose, from an epidemiologist’s point of view whether you’d be happy with it or you'd want other aspects addressed?

A:    No, I think it illustrates very well my concerns.  I notice that this is a draft, it’s draft number 2.   Draft number 1 was prepared on 24 December, which was Xmas Eve.

Q:    This is the 14 January 2000 one?

A:    Yes, there were 2 weeks between draft 1 and draft 2, so Mr duRose has my sympathy, he obviously spent Xmas working on this.  So far as I can see it’s still a draft but it actually was prepared after a lot of the information had already been collected.   The questionnaires, as I understand it, had already been sent to the laboratories on the 7th December, before even the first draft of the protocol was prepared, and Mr duRose had already visited all of the laboratories and discussed the review and of course that may have been partly to get feedback about his planned course of action.   But there's no evidence here that there was any input from an epidemiologist or a biostatistician.   This protocol would not be deemed acceptable by a grant funding body or an Ethics Committee, and it was clearly done under tremendous time pressure and you don’t write a protocol after you’ve already collected a lot of the information.

Q:    I just wonder whether you're looking at it through the eyes of somebody who wants to aim for the gold standard here when that wasn’t actually the purpose of the study?   It seems to be a difference in perception that’s coming through from what you're saying?

A:    No, it does not meet minimal standards in terms of research design or evaluation design.  

Q:    So the difficulty we have again is that if the Health Funding Authority relied on the multi-disciplinary advisory group it probably shouldn't have, is that the position?

A:    Did the multi-disciplinary advisory group have input to the preparation of this protocol?

Q:    Well I might have to get some of these points clarified now that you’ve raised them.



CHAIR:   Mr Murray I don’t want to interrupt your flow, but I realise you wanted the witness to look at this document, it may be that there are other documents you want him to look at.   What I was thinking, as it’s quarter to one, what we could do is adjourn until 2.00 on the basis that you identify for the witness what documents you'd like him to read over lunch.   I’m in your hands on this.  I’m quite happy to go until 1.00, in the usual way.  It’s really a matter of what's most going to assist you.

MR MURRAY:   I think if we just carry on until 1.00 because there's only a few points I want to put to Professor Skegg and I think some of the points he’s raising have to be dealt with in a different way.

WITNESS:   I know it’s not for me to ask questions, but just to clarify my last answer.  Could I say that I would be in some doubt as to whether the multi-disciplinary advisory group would even have seen this draft.

MR MURRAY:   Well we can clarify that, but one of the difficulties I suggest you have is that your working off summary information and you haven't got the raw data and information that the multi-disciplinary advisory group had before it.   That would be perhaps an unfair requirement on you at the moment in that you haven't seen that material.

A:    No, I feel I have had a large amount of material, far more than I would normally have to evaluate a study.  There's several hundred pages.  The concerns that I have about the process I believe would be shared by anyone who had any expertise in evaluation or research design.  It is a sine qar non that you plan a study before you collect the data.   In this case the questionnaire, unless I’m mistaken, had already been designed.   Obviously you need to have a very clear idea of your objectives before you design a questionnaire.  Normally a questionnaire is piloted and sent out.  In this case the protocol that you’ve identified was written after the study had already started.

Q:    Not quite right because you have, I suggest, 3 stages to this exercise:  you have the development of the protocol with the Health Funding Authority in-house epidemiologist and statistician;   you have an evaluation panel to look at the information that comes back, and you have an advisory group, a multi-disciplinary advisory group (which includes an epidemiologist – one of your colleagues but also many other disciplines), and it’s a result of those 3 stages that the Health Funding Authority gets a level of comfort that there is no other practice like Dr Bottrill over the 9 year time period of the study.   So if you take that as a summary of the review, you take account of the fact that it is - as Professor Duggan has indicated - a review of both practice and performance;  you end up with a good level of satisfaction with most of the laboratories, some concerns about 6 of the laboratories - that is reduced to a fewer number for follow-up action;   you have confidence that the follow-up action is being taken by the Health Funding Authority, don’t you then end up in a position where the points you're making are valid from a rigorous epidemiological point of view, but that’s nit-picking.   If you want to go for the gold standard certainly pursue all those points, but for the work that’s done and for the purpose that it was done the Inquiry can have a reasonable level of assurance, as can the Health Funding Authority on the basis of its advice, that the conclusions are correct?

A:    I’m sorry I don’t think I am nit-picking, and I’m not just speaking from the point of view of an epidemiologist.  I think any researcher or anyone who has even a passing acquaintance with a scientific method would know that you plan a study as fully as possible before you start the data collection.   And I don’t see any evidence here that the Health Funding Authority epidemiologist or biostatistician was involved in the design of the questionnaire or the preparation of this protocol.  I suspect that Mr duRose, for whom I have considerable sympathy, was expected to do this under considerable time pressure, largely as a fire-fighting exercise.  It’s then subsequently been dressed up as a rigorous evaluation, but the multi-disciplinary advisory group, as I understand it, became involved at a later stage as a result of some of the findings of the first collection of information.  I’m not arguing for a gold standard.  I don’t believe this would get a bronze medal, and that’s not a criticism of the people concerned, I think it tells us something about the system in which they're working.



MR GRIEVE INTERJECTS

MR GRIEVE:   	Madam Chair for consistently perhaps you might like to ask Professor Skegg to give it a mark out of 10.

CHAIR:   	I’ll leave that question to you Mr Grieve.



MR MURRAY CONTINUES XXN OF WITNESS 

MR MURRAY:   	Well if I can just take you to an example I think you had a concern with the Sydney results being quite high and therefore that gave you a concern about whether there was under-reporting in other laboratories but if I could just take you to exhibit 1 at page 24, I just want to get these points clear before others comment but at page 24 you’ll see a graph of time series of high grade % by community laboratories, I think if you take the 94/95 time period for instance.  Now at least one in other laboratories had quite high levels of high grade reporting well above the national average so that the Sydney re-read  results are not all that startling really I suggest and I just wonder if you could comment on that?

A:   	Yes if I could just refer again to Ms Mellor’s supplementary evidence appendix 1 page 37, from the table there the estimate that I derive from the Sydney laboratory is that if one takes cancer and high grades and includes ASCUS H the % reported in those categories was 3.7% and we’re talking in your page 24 about the early 1990’s when as I understand it the category ASCUS H wasn’t included so I think it would be appropriate to –

Q:   	Leave out this?

A:   	No well a pathologist will have to advise you on that but I think one could make a case for including it in the 2.7% clearly in the exercise the Health Funding Authority has carried out in Gisborne it has treated ASCUS H from an operational point of view as equivalent to high grade.  As far as I understand it exactly the same things were prescribed for the women as those who had high grade so I would prefer to treat it as a way in which Sydney called some – so that’s 3.7% but if you prefer to exclude them it's 2.5%.

Q:   	Yes it's 2.53% and the table you looked at at page 24 excludes ASCUS H.

A:   	Well that's because ASCUS H wasn’t used at that time they would have probably been included as high grades, I my be wrong, but lets stick with the 2.5%.  There’s not one laboratory in New Zealand that reaches that at any period and the average that I think we’ve discussed before was less than 1% so yes I think there is a startling different.

Q:   	Even though a number of the laboratories are above the average and one is almost at 2.5%.

A:   	Well I’d expect about half to be above and half to be below, that's what an average means.

Q:   	And that's what I’m suggesting, you don’t look at the average it's not correct to compare the Sydney results with the average.

A:   	Well we could compare them with each separate laboratory and in each case there is a very large difference.

Q:   	Alright.  That’s all I have.



CHAIR INTERJECTS AND XXN WITNESS

CHAIR:   	Professor Skegg I’d just like to ask you this.  If you go to page 5 of DuRose exhibit 1, top paragraph which talks of the review, there is a sentence, having set out the review which says as such this review does not represent a thorough assessment and evaluation of the quality of cervical cytology services.  Now if the review states that it doesn’t do that, I would like your opinion on whether or not for the purposes of determining if there is a systemic issue for the Cervical Screening Programme in respect of laboratory performance, do we need a thorough assessment and evaluation of the quality of cervical cytology services to be able to make that determination or can we do it on something less than that?

A:   	If you don’t mind I’m just reading the previous sentence.  Yes I think the sentence you quoted is a very honest statement and again it I think shows that whoever wrote this was himself aware of the limited significance of the project and I think there does need to be a thorough assessment and evaluation of the quality of cervical cytology services in order to answer the third term of reference.  As I say that needs to be done in conjunction with review of cases of cervical cancer and perhaps with some high grade lesions.

Q:   	Right and in your opinion as an epidemiologist for the committee to say in the absence of a thorough assessment and evaluation of the quality of cervical cytology services we cannot be sure that there is a systemic issue for the Cervical Screening Programme, would that be being too precious and aiming at a gold standard to use Mr Murray’s phrase or would that be a reasonable approach to take?

A:   	I think it would be entirely reasonable.  I think it would have to be explained that it wasn’t saying that there was a problem elsewhere but that the monitoring that's occurred over the years and the evaluations that are available at this time do not allow the panel to form a view that there is no systemic issue.

Q:   	And as an epidemiologist if you were attempting to find out whether or not one of the possible  reasons for a problem was a systemic issue within the Cervical Screening Programme, would you therefore want to have a thorough assessment and evaluation of the quality of cervical cytology services before you rules that out?

A:   	Yes.

Q:   	Thank you.



CHAIR ADDRESSES INQUIRY

CHAIR:   	Does anyone want to make the best of the next 5 mins.  Mr Kirton.



MR KIRTON XXN WITNESS

MR KIRTON:   	Just following on from that very last question to make the most of the last few minutes, just in terms of determining whether there is  a systemic issue Professor Skegg, is the fact that there was very insufficient monitoring and evaluation a systemic issue in itself?

A:   	Yes.

Q:   	On that basis could the panel draw a conclusion about systemic issues?

A:   	Well it could and again I think it will depend as I’ve mentioned before how the panel defines systemic issue but I think the evidence that we’ve all seen shows that there have been – of course there will be problems with any system I mean there will be nothing on earth that hasn’t had some systemic issues so the panel is going to have to define, but because of the first part of that sentence, I presume it refers not to failings in a more general sense, but specifically as to whether the Gisborne experience was exceptional, isolated, unique or whether there could have been similar problems elsewhere.

Q:   	So in terms of defining systemic issue, we could incorporate those what might be called programme specific issues such as monitoring and evaluation.  Sort of non laboratory specific, more programme specific issues and regard them as systemic is that correct?

A:   	Well we could put you and I writing the report so I think it would depend on the committee as to how they interpret that and as I say that remains to be seen.



CHAIR INTERJECTS AND XXN WITNESS

CHAIR:   	Well I think I should say Professor Skegg that the correct interpretation of these terms of reference is open to submission which will happen at the end of the inquiry so as yet the terms of reference are open for debate so don’t feel constrained by any particular interpretation you might put on them.



MR KIRTON CONTINUES XXN OF WITNESS

MR KIRTON:   	Professor Skegg before entering or going on to a broader thesis there is one issue that you could clarify falling out of the duRose exhibit 6, it’s the letter that we referred to earlier at p144.  If you were to go to the bottom of the page at iii and the second sentence “this reflected not false negatives but an abnormal result which was under-called”, are you familiar with that notation?  I haven't heard that in the Inquiry before, this notion of abnormal result under-called?

A:    Could I just read the para again.  In my first brief of evidence I mentioned that the terms false negative and false positive unfortunately are used in many different ways by different people and this can cause confusion.  Sometimes the term false negative is used, in the sense of pathology reporting, where someone, say, had a high grade abnormality and the smear was reported as normal.  But others would, I think, regard a false negative as something where something was significantly under-called.  From my point of view what matters is not the term but what actions would occur as a result of the advice that was given, and it really is a matter of terminology.   What has clearly occurred here is that lesions that were proven on biopsy to be high grade abnormalities had been reported with a much less serious cytological diagnosis that would not have led to immediate colposcopy.  Now we must expect this to occur in any programme.  We know that cytopathology can never been 100% correct, so there will always be some lesions that are under-called and some that are over-called – that’s the nature of a screening programme.  But it does seem here that the pathologist is referring to a more systemic issue – if I may use that word in a different sense about his laboratory – that there was some systemic under-reporting.  As I say, it’s a matter – some would call it a false negative and many would not.

Q:    So in that respect then, are you saying that those slides referred to are called as abnormal in some way but not called specifically, so it goes to the specificity of that laboratory – is that how you interpret that?

A:    I would prefer not to use the word specificity because that’s used in screening in a particular sense again.  Yes, what was happening is they were reporting – and again we’re not told the number of cases here, but obviously the pathologist was concerned that there had been some systematic under-reporting of high grade abnormalities but they were not reported, as I understand it, as normal and he goes on over the page.

CHAIR:   just pause there Professor Skegg because we've got here a supplement to exhibit Health Funding Authority 10 by Mr duRose, Dr Duggan’s pointed it out to me, and at p4 this deals with laboratory GG which is the laboratory in question, it says it identified 1920 smears that were reported as ASCUS AGUS in the 94/95 year, and the screening review has identified 187 high grade smears and these have been removed from the review.   That was the Register.   But you will see if you look at p47 of exhibit 1 you will get the laboratory’s explanation there of how they picked it up in 96, and over at p48 you’ll see this is laboratory where the high grades increased from 96 onwards.

A:    Oh I see, it’s the one we talked about before?

Q:    Yes.

A:    And you said it was on p47?

Q:    Yes, the text explanation is on p47 and the table is on 48.   You will see from the table on 48 the increase in high grades after 96.

A:    I really think that clarification of this would be better put to a pathologist than to me.  All I would say is that I don’t think that the question that you’ve asked, it seems to me, is a terminological one and I think some people would call it a false negative but many would not and would say it was under-calling.

MR KIRTON:   Madam Chair I have about 15 minutes of questions left.

CHAIR:   Right, well we will adjourn now and come back at 2.15



THE HEARING ADJOURNED AT 1.06PM, TO RESUME AT 2.15PM



�

INQUIRY HEARING RESUMES AT 2:19



MR MURRAY ADDRESSES CHAIR

MR MURRAY:   	Just before Mr Kirton starts could I just indicate that I have Dr Gabrielle Medley here, Tuesday was the day, and I wonder if I could ask that Dr Medley give evidence after Professor Skegg.  I’m just concerned that if we go into Dr Cox there could be a considerable delay which would make it very difficult for Dr Medley so I’m on the committees hands but am just conscious of my responsibilities having asked her to come over here at short notice.

CHAIR:   	Certainly I understand.  I’m not sure what impact that has on the Cancer Society with Dr Cox?

MR MURRAY:   	Perhaps we better just see how we go.

CHAIR:   	Yes and we’ll deal with it a bit later on.



MR KIRTON CONTINUES XXN OF WITNESS

MR KIRTON:   	Professor Skegg can I take you to new subject for this segment at it's paragraph 26 of your brief.

A:   	Of the second brief.

Q:   	Yes your current brief.  You refer there to – you make quite a big statement where I can quote you.  It could be argued that New Zealand should consider abandoning national programmes such as those for the control of cervical cancer and breast cancer, it seems unethical to exhort apparently healthy people to undergo medical procedures when adequate steps cannot be taken to monitor the quality of the process or the outcome achieved.  Can you give us some idea as to what you base that, your opinion there on.

A:   	Well I think the second statement is self-evident.  Obviously my concern about the current programmes is based on my own knowledge of them and the evidence that has been presented at this inquiry but I think that most people would agree that with screening programmes there is an even greater ethical responsibility for those offering care than in the case of normal treatment  and I did touch on this in my first brief.  When someone goes to the doctor and says you know I’ve got a pain in my arm, please do something, then the doctor is certainly still obliged to use the highest possible  standards of care but in fact the patient has initiated the contact and has made a request.  The doctor does the best that he or she can.  Screening is quite different from that.  In a screening programme we are going to members of the public and saying we’ve got something that's good for you, we think that you should avail yourself of this screening procedure and sometimes some of the ?? almost implies that women are irresponsible or men whichever the case may be if they don’t take up that invitation.  Now when one doe that I think there is a particular responsibility  to ensure that the benefits greatly outweigh any risks and that the programme is capable of delivering what it has set out to deliver.

Q:   	Do you regard that ethical imperative to be a well understood concept particularly in regard to nationwide screening programmes or similar dealings with well people.

A:   	Yes it's widely understood not jut in relation to nationwide programmes but all screening and preventive procedures there were papers being written about this in the 1960’s so it's a very widely discussed distinction really between  screening procedures and medical care in general.

Q:   	In the circumstances of the National Cervical Screening Programme  who do you think held ethical responsibility with regard to the obligations under it?

A:   	Well clearly a national screening programme involves many types of people doing many types of tasks and one point I’d like to re-iterate that I made in my first brief of evidence, our screening programme in New Zealand which I think has achieved real benefits, one of it's achievements has been to involve so many people at the grass roots level who I think are doing an excellent job.  Now they all have an ethical responsibility to complete their tasks in a safe and effective way, so do the various types of clinician, the pathologists the administrators.  The ultimate responsibility for the programme lies with those who coordinator and those who are responsible for it's commissioning.

Q:   	Can I just take tow specific components of the programme and ask for your comment in that regard.  We’ve had a view that the screening process, the cytologist’s screening process, the smears of the women read are not essentially the patients of the pathologist in charge of that laboratory.  Would you regard there to be some ethical obligation on that pathologist in terms of the outputs of that laboratory.

A:   	I didn’t understand the first part of your question.

Q:   	You said there are a multiplicity of opportunities if you like for ethical considerations to be part of the programme.

A:   	Yes.

Q:   	Can I ask you in terms of the screening part, the reading the slides part of the programme, is there an ethical imperative for the person doing the screening or the laboratory to have an ethical obligation to do their best for example in those circumstances, does that apply?

A:   	Yes certainly.

Q:   	Going to the issue of monitoring and evaluation where do you think the overall responsibility for monitoring and evaluation lies in terms of ethical obligations?

A:   	Well the ultimate responsibility as with all matters to do with health care  is with the Minister and then there is the Director-General of Health and then there are the staff underneath the Director-General either in the Ministry of Health  or the Health Funding Authority who are charged with these responsibilities.  The reason I started with the top and work down rather than going upwards is that clearly the extent to which these people can fulfil these responsibilities adequately partly depends on their own training and their staffing and resources so I think those probably are critical factors.

Q:   	Can you confirm that indeed monitoring and evaluation is probably the core issue with regard to this inquiry.

A:   	It's certainly a core issue.

Q:   	Can I take you to the Glackin exhibit  volume 7 tab 35, if I could take you to my page 6, I’m not sure if yours is enumerated in the same way.

A:   	Yes that's also got page 33 at the top with the stamp.

Q:   	It's about a third of the way down, recommendations of the cervical smear advisory committee regarding monitoring and evaluation have we got the same page?

A:   	Yes.

Q:   	You see there in that paragraph immediately following that bold heading, recommendations of the CSLAC during it's three year term regarding programme and monitoring and evaluation and comments about Ministry of Health commissioned projects are provided in appendix 3 do you see that?

A:   	Yes.

Q:   	Can I now get you to go to appendix 3 at page 23 of that document.  And you see there under the heading 1 August 1991, the fifth item there.  You see that the CSLAC committee has raised the issue of monitoring and evaluation in 1991?

A:   	Yes.

Q:   	Can I get you to turn the page to page 24, third of the way down the bold heading selected outgoing correspondence August 91.

A:   	Yes.

Q:   	Final steps for an effective cervical screening programme do you see that?

A:   	Yes.

Q:   	If I can get you to go to page 26, top of the page December 1993.

A:   	Yes.

Q:   	Under the heading K R Regan requirements for programme monitoring and evaluation?

A:   	Yes.

Q:   	Next heading April 1994 needs for access to advice/expertise for programme monitoring and evaluation.

A:   	Yes.

Q:   	Next page 27 item 14, May 1991, formation of national cervical screening advisory committee and monitoring and evaluation.

A:   	Yes.

Q:   	The point I’m wanting to make here Professor Skegg, is the Ministry of Health, and the Department of Health prior to it, were put on very clear notice, were they not, about the need for monitoring and evaluation?   Would that be a fair comment?

A:    Yes.

Q:   And throughout that period where CSAC is in operation, they registered their concern about monitoring and evaluation on many, many occasions?

A:    Yes.

Q:    And for them to in fact enumerate those occasions in this report is an indication of their concern and frustration about the lack of progress and monitoring and evaluation?

A:    yes, I’d agree with that.

Q:    Going back to the consideration of ethical obligations and the knowledge that the Ministry of Health and the Department of Health must have been aware of their ethical obligations and certainly were advised of the importance of monitoring and evaluation, do you think they failed a fundamental ethical obligation to ensure that that happened?

A:    Well I think a fundamental ethical obligation was failed.   It’s difficult for me to pin-point exactly where responsibility for that lay.   Several of these letters were to Katherine O’Regan the Associate Minister of Health, so it’s not possible for me to judge if there were decisions made not to allocate adequate resources for monitoring the screening programme, I suppose the Director General has responsibility, but he or she has to work with the resources that are provided by the government.  So I would certainly agree with you that an ethical responsibility was not fully met, but I think it’s for others closer to the decision-making to comment on precisely whose responsibility that was.

Q:    You referred to working within the resources that the organisation had.  In that circumstance then, do you think advice should have been tended from the programme manager for example to the Director General of Health who was responsible for allocating resources that the programme should have been abandoned given that they were not complying with monitoring and evaluation?

A:    Well, I think the much more acceptable solution would not have been to have abandoned the programme but to set in place quite rapidly procedures for monitoring and evaluation, which would have been not at all costly in relation to the overall expenditure on the programme.

Q:    So you're saying that the actual expenditure or resources should be dismissed in the circumstances where we were running a National Cervical Screening Programme and monitoring and evaluation was a critical component of it?

A:    I don’t believe that lack of resources in a global sense is any excuse whatsoever for the lack of monitoring and evaluation.   This programme involved expenditure of millions of dollars.   I think I recall it was $12M in the first year or something – it was a very large expenditure.   The cost of doing adequate monitoring and evaluation would have been tiny in relation to the cost of the programme.   So in a global sense I think lack of resources was no excuse whatsoever.   The only reason I raise it is that I’m reluctant to blame any particular person in the chain because they may not have had the resources that they requested.   Clearly only the health officials can answer those questions.

Q:    Can I take you to another commentary on the situation, and it occurs in a brief yet to be brought to the Inquiry, that of Dr David Lambie.  If you could go to para 41, p15.

CHAIR:   Actually Dr Lambie’s evidence is in affidavit form which has been accepted so it’s in evidence, he just hasn’t appeared yet for any questioning on his affidavit.

MR KIRTON:   Thank you Madam Chair.  If we look at para 41 Professor Skegg, and you read there “equally in relation to the range, volume and quality of services, it would have been detrimental to the health and independence of New Zealanders to have reduced the service obligations to the lowest common denominator.”   Can I pose this to you:   was it equally detrimental to the health and independence of New Zealanders not to have monitored and evaluated the National Cervical Screening Programme?

A:    Yes.

Thank you, that’s all I have Madam Chair.



CHAIR:   Professor Skegg, if I could just interrupt here.   Since you’ve got Ms Glackin volume 7 in front of you, p59 there are the European guidelines for quality assurance in cervical cancer screening.   Could you please turn to p61, the guidelines start.   Are you familiar with this document?

A:   Yes, I am.  I haven't read it recently but I am familiar with the document.

Q:    If you go to p61, top right hand corner,  it starts with table one – these are guidelines for quality assurance, that should give you information on coverage within a 3 year screening population, women with at least 1 smear, mid-population %.  How valuable is that in terms of information if that were available?

A:    I think it’s very valuable.

Q:    Do you know if that information is available at the moment?  I think from memory it is actually?

A:    I think so, yes.

Q:    Down below, table two, interval to reporting with the age of women and then the interval between.   What do you think of that?

A:    I think it’s useful information.

Q:    And then over the page, proportion of unsatisfactory smears;  is that useful?

A:    Yes.

Q:    And table four, follow-up compliance for abnormal smears.   Do you think that is useful?

A:    Yes, it’s showing the follow-up interval.

Q:    Do you know if table four type information is available at the moment in NZ?   We can always check by going through the reports, but just tell me if you know from off the top of your head.

A:    I believe so but I think others should be asked.

Q:    Table five, follow-up compliance for women with at least one abnormal smear;  is that worthwhile?

A:    Yes.

Q:    And then table 6, treatment compliance, number of women by most severe diagnosis within a given screening round;  would that be useful information to have?

A:    Yes.  In this case I should say I don’t actually like the term “compliance” because it implies people are being forced to do something.

Q:    Yes, right.

A:    but I presume in this case it’s referring to whether people have received their treatment within a given screening round, and the word compliance implies that the woman is the one who is maybe the problem whereas actually very often it’s a lack of resources of the follow-up that is the problem.

Q:    And do you think this is particularly important information to have available?�A:    Yes, I do.

Q:    Table seven, again that use of the word “treatment compliance”, number of women by most radical treatment for given diagnosis;  would that be useful to have?

A:    It would be useful descriptive information, yes.

Q:    And table 8, smear sensitivity for detection of invasive cervical cancer;  would that be useful?

A:    Indeed, very useful.

Q:   And then over the page, distribution of incidence cases invasive cervical cancer cases by stage;  would that be useful?

A:    Yes, certainly.

Q:    Do you know if that information is available as part of the screening programme?

A:   I can't see whether it’s available for all the women in the screening programme, I think Dr Cox would be able to – or Dr Peters.

Q:    And table 10, distribution of incidence cases invasive cervical cancer cases by detection?

A:    Yes, that’s very useful.

Q:    And then over the page table 11, interval cancers, incidence of invasive cancer by time since last normal smear;  is that helpful?

A:    Yes, very helpful.

Q:    And table 12, interval cancers, re-evaluation of previous smears, and you will see it goes down within 1 year from diagnosis and then within 2 years from diagnosis and within 3 years from diagnosis.

A:    Once again extremely useful, and this is the sort of thing that I would hope the national evaluation will eventually start doing.

Q:    Then over the page, 13, consumption of smears.  What does that mean?

A:    Once again whoever wrote this report – it see it’s a European report so they may not have had English as their first language.  I actually know one or two of the authors and their English is much better than my command of any other language would be. 

A:   	Well once again whoever wrote this report, I see it's a European report so they may not have English as their first language, well some of them, I actually know one or two of the authors and although their English is much better than my command of any other language would be, it just really is looking at the number of smears that each woman in each age group is receiving and it doesn’t actually define the time period but I presume it's referring to the problem that there can be over-screening of some women to the detriment of others.

Q:   	Right, table 14 distribution of smears % of women with more than 1 smear would that be helpful.

A:   	Yes.

Q:   	Table 15 distribution of smears % of women with abnormal smear.

A:   	Yes.

Q:   	Then table 16 use of smears in a screening round is that useful?

A:   	Yes I’m just looking at that table, I’m sure it would be.

Q:   	And table 17 incidence of invasive cervical cancer before and after start of organised screening programme is that useful?

A:   	Yes.

Q:   	And table 18 mortality from cervical cancer before and after start of organised screening programme.

A:   	Yes.

Q:   	Ideally if a cervical screening programme is operating in a way in which good data is being collated and made available, would you expect data which would cover all the tables, now there was from table 1 to table 18 to be available as a matter of course.

A:   	I would and I actually think that most of the women who have availed themselves of the programme would assume that this sort of information is being used and in fact most of the data required to provide these analysis is being collected in New Zealand.  You know we’ve had a national Cervical Screening Register which has been reasonable complete since about 1993 or 1994, we’ve had a cancer registry throughout the period, so I really just want to underline my point that it wouldn’t have required a great investment to provide this sort of quality control.

Q:   	If the committee was looking for a good benchmark for what type of data ought to be available for the screening programme would these European guidelines for quality assurance  in cervical cancer screening provide us with a good benchmark.

A:   	Yes I believe so.

Q:   	You don’t think we would be seeking the imposition of a gold standard to say that statistical information of this sort contemplated in tables 1-18 of the European guidelines ought to be the norm for the New Zealand programme.

A:   	No I wouldn’t regard this as a gold standard, I think these are just quite routine in many countries.

Q:   	Thank you.



MS THORPE XXN WITNESS

MS THORPE:   	Professor Skegg my questions will focus on the involvement of Ethics Committees and in particular the application you made to the Tairawhiti Regional Ethics Committee.  Just at the outset is it correct to say that you feel that Ethics Committees in general, tend to take and I think your words are, a highly restrictive view regarding the use of health information for research.

A:   	Yes and I would like to expand on that comment by saying that I believe that the decision made by the Tairawhiti Ethics Committee was quite consistent with the decisions of other committees in New Zealand so I certainly wasn’t, although I’ve documented as I was expected to do I think in some detail, our interactions with the committee.  I certainly have no desire to criticise them as a committee because I believe their response was similar to what might have been expected from several other committees in New Zealand.

Q:   	And do I take it from your evidence earlier today that that comment might even extend to bodies overseas as well.

A:   	No I said that there are concerns about privacy in many countries at the moment but no I do think we have a particular problem which I think is illustrated by the fact that the sort of evaluation that we’ve just seen is routine in European countries is not being done in New Zealand on privacy grounds, probably more than on resource grounds.

Q:   	Are you aware that there is some debate internationally about that tension between  individuals rights to privacy and public good.

A:   	Indeed I was involved in developing international guidelines for epidemiological studies and I think it is inevitable there will always be a tension between  privacy and other human values and of course that's also reflected in our own privacy legislation in New Zealand.

Q:   	Just in dealing with the New Zealand legislation do you feel that legislation places too much emphasis on the privacy or autonomy rights of individuals.

A:   	No I believe the privacy legislation is quite appropriate.  I think the privacy legislation is actually very permissive of research.  There is then a health information privacy code that was developed by the privacy commissioner which actually is more restrictive than the act but I also think that's quite appropriate and I think that the Privacy Commissioner has made it clear that he believes it is important to balance privacy and autonomy against other needs particularly in the health area so I have no criticism of the act or of the health information privacy code or indeed of the indications that the Privacy Commissioner has given.  My concern is that the way in which these code is being interpreted by Ethics Committees is blocking evaluations and audits and research that are essential for the health of New Zealanders.

Q:   	So would you be advocating perhaps some change in the guidance given to Ethics Committees as to how they might interpret that legislation.

A:   	Yes.

Q:   	Would you agree that it would be appropriate that any changes in that should  be approached in a measured way given those restrictions and those competing interests that are involved?

A:   	Yes I’m sure it should be done in a measured way but I hoe it won’t be too slow because I said this morning, every month that goes by more New Zealanders will suffer the ill effects.



CHAIR INTERJECTS AND XXN WITNESS

CHAIR:   	You’re familiar with the composition of Ethics Committees.

A:   	Yes.

Q:   	Are there any lawyers on the Ethics Committees as far as you’re aware?

A:   	There often are, I don’t think they are stipulated.  The New Zealand committees are I think exceptional internationally in that the proportion of lay people, by which I don’t mean those who are not clerics, but those who are not health professionals is unusually high in New Zealand.  They are always chaired by a lay person, who may actually be an ethicist or a lawyer or someone whose got a particular expertise in the area but who is not a health care  professional and just from memory I think at least half the committee are lay people.  One of the limitations that this imposes is that there are often not a large number of health professionals or researchers with the expertise to assess the applicants and this is not just a problem in terms of important research being blocked, it may also sometimes I believe mean that some concerns about projects may not be explored as adequately as they could be if there were more people with expertise available.  But in particular as I understand it there is no requirement that there be anyone with any public health experience or perspective on a committee so there has to be a balance considered between  the autonomy of an individual and public health considerations.  There may be no-one on the committee who can actually speak with expertise on that.

Q:   	As an epidemiologist have you had the experience in the past where you have gained the impression that Ethics Committees perhaps do not fully understand the public health implications and the benefits which will flow from the research for which you see approval.

A:   	Yes certainly.

Q:   	I note in respect of the Tairawhiti Ethics Committee which composition is shown on page 7 of your exhibits that there are no lawyers on that committee which given the recourse these days to the Privacy Act and the privacy health information code etc. may in itself be something surprising, what do you think?   Actually, I will re-phrase that, that’s a very improper question.  I will leave that question, we will discount it – very improper.

A:    Can I just say, though, that it really illustrates my point and this committee is in no respect unusual, that there is no-one on that committee who would be able to put the public health viewpoint with expert knowledge.

Q:    And so in that sense there could well be people making decisions who perhaps with the best of motives do not really have a full appreciation of the import of their decision in public health terms?

A:    My impression, and again this is not specific to this committee, is that because there isn't full consideration of the benefits of the research, and indeed the costs of not doing it, that there tends to be a focus just on the other side of the equation and then quite an absolute position is taken in relation to autonomy.  I doubt whether, and I know from discussions with members of Ethics Committees in other parts of NZ, they’ve said to me, “Actually we never discuss the cost of not doing it.”   Oddly enough, they say to me that they often discuss the benefits of experimental studies, and I think there's an extremely important distinction between experimental studies in which you're actually doing something to someone:  administering an untested drug or taking a biopsy or something like that.   There is a great responsibility there because the risks are much more significant.   And the strange thing is that I've been told by people on Ethics Committees that perhaps because of those very real risks they then do discuss the benefits and they make this kind of trade off.   But when it’s just a matter of using routine medical records in a confidential way, I doubt whether the committees have considered the likelihood that at least 10 women a year will die because we’re not doing this evaluation.  I would be very surprised if the committees have sat there and thought, “yes, this is so important that we think one woman a month at least should die just to preserve this concept of autonomy.”

Q:    Tell me, is Professor David Seedhouse from the National Centre for Health and social Ethics of the Auckland University of Technology known to you?

A:    Yes.

Q:    What is his background?

A:    He’s an Englishman actually who was at the Auckland Medical School as a lecturer in ethics and then returned to the UK and I think he must have quite recently come back to the Auckland University of Technology.

Q:    So would he have appreciation of public health matters?

A:    In a broad sense I suppose.  But no, he’s not a public health specialist at all, he’s I think a philosopher by training.

Q:    He doesn't have a medical degree to the best of your knowledge?

A:    Not at all, no.

Thank you.   Yes Ms Thorpe.



MS THORPE:   Just in relation to the composition of Tairawhiti regional Ethics Committee, was it your understanding that there was no-one from public health on that committee?

A:    Well as a health protection officer, but there is no-one who would have expertise on the sort of public health considerations that we’re talking about here.   Yes, that was my understanding.

Q:    So you wouldn't regard a member of the public health unit as having that kind of appreciation?

A:    No, he belongs to the public health unit but his expertise would not be in this sort of area.

Q:    Do you know whether any of the other regional committees have lawyers as part of their composition?

A:    Oh yes, I think many of them do.   Possibly most, I don’t know, but certainly I would imagine the majority.

Q:    So in fact Tairawhiti may be an anomaly as far as that’s concerned?

A:    Yeah, I wouldn't go so far as to say it’s an anomaly, but it may be unusual.  I’ve got no idea, frankly, what proportion but I do know of a number of lawyers who have been on these committees and on the occasions that I've interacted with one of these committees there is often at least 1 lawyer present – some cases the chairperson is a lawyer quite often.

Q:    So I take it you would be advocating some changes perhaps as to how these committees are composed, how the people are appointed?

A:    Yes, I think that is desirable, and I understand the Ministry of Health at the moment is reviewing the arrangements for Ethics Committees in NZ.  But as I say, beyond that, I think it is important that the members of the committee are well informed about the health information privacy code of the fundamental distinction between experimental studies and observational studies so that they are able to form a view that does balance considerations such as autonomy, which are obviously very important, and the other needs of other patients.

Q:    So some of these changes that you might advocate, would you see those as matters which would involve public debate?

A:    Yes, I’m sure there has been public debate and there will be, and in fact in the letter that I tabled this morning from Dr Poutasi [Reference Exhibit DCGS/CA/O27].   I think the first half of that letter Dr Poutasi sets out some of the procedures that are being followed at the moment and she I think stresses that there will be public consultation about these issues.

Q:    So I take it then you are not suggesting we do away with Ethics Committees altogether?

A:    Oh, certainly not.

Q:    You do see that there is a need for that kind of involvement in these processes?

A:    Yes, I've been a strong supporter of the concept of Ethics Committees.   I was one of the people who advocated for the establishment of the bio-ethics centre at Otago University.  I’m strongly in favour of having Ethics Committees.  I think they're essential for many reasons.  But not least of which to protect patients from experimental studies which may in some cases carry hazards, but equally I think they have a very important role to reassure the public that evaluations of a kind that are being discussed at this Inquiry are being carried out in a carefully planned and appropriate way by people who have the appropriate training and with adequate safeguards for confidentiality.

Q:    You're aware of, I assume that there are complaints procedures involved with applications to the Ethics Committees for approval and that if you were unhappy with a decision you are given the opportunity to provide a second opinion which they might consider?   Are you aware of those procedures?

A:    Yes, I believe it would be possible to have the matter referred to the Health Research Council Ethics Committee and we did consider that in this case, but because of the time involved we have not proceeded with that.

Q:    You have mentioned in your evidence the national standards for Ethics Committees that they have to guide them in dealing with applications, and in particular the objectives of ethical review as stated as including firstly to safeguard the rights of health and disability support service consumers and participants in health research and to protect them from harm.   Are you aware of that objective?

A:    Yes.

Q:    And also the second to last objective listed there is to give due consideration to both local and national community views and perspectives and ethical review?

A:    Yes.

Q:   Do you regard those two objectives as encapsulating the kind of competing interests that they should take into account?

A:   Yes, I think they need to reflect the community’s priorities in the way that they interpret issues, certainly.

Q:    And further, those national standards direct these committees that the safety and benefit to the individual must take precedence;   is that correct:

A:    Over harm, yes.

Q:    And para 5 of those national standards, where it tells the committees how they should deal with applications for ethical review it also states, does it not, that where there's not likely to be any direct benefit to the participant then the risks to the individual ought to be heavily outweighed by the potential good to society or future individuals with relevant needs.

A:    Yes.

Q:    And is it that weighing up exercise that you feel that these committees are not necessarily approaching as well as they could?

A:    Yes, and I think that that is a very useful summary really of the considerations that lie behind my concern.  I think in the particular cases that are being discussed at this inquiry if you can read that again, I didn’t actually refer to that national standard in my brief I referred to other documents, I haven’t got it in front of me, could you read that last –



CHAIR INTERJECTS

CHAIR:   	Could we have copies made available to us please.

MS THORPE:   	Yes Ma’am I might even two or three copies here just of that particular paragraph.  I’ll just delete an anticipated exhibit number



MS THORPE CONTINUES XXN OF WITNESS 

MS THORPE:   	The passage I’m referring to is under paragraph 5.1.1 and you’ll see it's the last sentence in that first paragraph under that heading.

A:   	On page 17.

Q:   	Yes.

A:   	If I could just read back to you the second part, I’ll read the whole sentence, the safety of and benefit to the individual must take precedence and where there is not likely to be any direct benefit to the participant, then the risks, and I emphasise the word risks, to the individual, ought to be heavily outweighed by the potential good to society or future individuals with relevant needs.

Q:   	Do you think that that guideline gives sufficient guidance to Ethics Committees?

A:   	Well no in view of the stance that's taken by Ethics Committees I don’t’ think it is sufficient.  I think that's what the Director-General is also saying in her letter that this whole issue needs further debate and clarification.



CHAIR INTERJECTS AND XXN WITNESS

CHAIR:   	Could you just clarify for me firstly if you would outline the potential good to society or future individuals with relevant needs if your study had gone ahead.  What do you say the potential good is?

A:   	I should say that I have been talking about two studies at the same time here and so I if I first of all talk about the study that was proposed by Dr Richardson and myself.  Of course this study was done for the sake of this inquiry it was not something we expected to publish in a medical journal or anything like that and the potential good to society and to future women in this country who use the Cervical Screening Programme is that the study would enable us to identify what factors have lead to women developing cancer unnecessarily and the potential good is that identifying those problems would enable the committee of inquiry to make recommendations to remediate those problems in the future.

Q:   	And what is the cost if that doesn’t happen?

A:   	The cost is that the kinds of problems that have been very apparent I believe during this inquiry will continue for further years.

Q:   	And you mentioned deaths before.  Can you put a number on them.

A:   	I mentioned that 80 women a year die from cervical cancer in New Zealand approximately and I believe it is very conservative to estimate that 10 of those deaths would be preventable by improving the programme.  I mean so many issues have been raised, not just in respect of Dr Bottrill’s practice.  Now if we had been monitoring the programme in the way that the European’s do for the last 10 years I believe it's not unreasonable to estimate that at least 100 women would not have died from cervical cancer who will die from cervical cancer and I regard the prevention of 100 deaths as a huge potential good and I doubt whether the committees that are considered these issues fully appreciate that, I don’t think they see the women having unnecessary treatment  suffering all the pain and degradation of a very nasty disease, they don’t see their children without a mother, I think this is an extremely serious problem and there is clearly very large room for improvement in the way that it's dealt with in this country.

Q:   	And in terms of the other part of the test, the risk to the individual, that's the individual whose in this case whose files were going to be audited, can you outline and I realise this is your perspective but can you outline for me how you see it in terms of the risk to the individual women whose files would have been subject to the audit by you and Dr Richardson under your study.

A:   	Well the risk to the individual is I think one of autonomy or privacy rather than confidentiality. If I could make a distinction between those terms.  Clearly it's essential that there be strict safeguards for confidentiality, no-one wants to read their medical records in the newspaper and so that's one of the jobs of the Ethics Committee to make sure that the people doing the study are responsible very often they’ll be bound by professional codes of ethics and that there are adequate safeguards for confidentiality so as I said in my brief I’m not aware of one single study in New Zealand where there has been a breach of confidentiality of that kind.  Some people however take the view that even to have someone look at their records without their explicit consent is a breach of their autonomy.  Now I believe that's a rather extreme view because whenever one has health care  all sorts of people see ones records for different reasons.  Some of those are administrative and bureaucratic and financial so as a health researcher I find it difficult to understand why people feel so upset about information being abstracted without any identifying particulars to be presented in a statistical fashion when in fact records are all the times are being used and accessed by all sorts of people involved not only in the care of the patient but also in the administration of the health system.

Q:   	Is this perhaps a reflection of the historical nature of medical treatment  where notions of quality assurance, peer review, auditing of work are reasonably new and so it's not seen as part and parcel of the initial medical treatment  in other words a patient who is seen by a doctor often may not be seen by different doctors in the same medical practice, the nurses within the practice may see the file, there can be as you’ve mentioned bureaucratic access to the file, if quality assurance  was seen as part and parcel of medical treatment  then the fact that someone comes along later and has a look at the file for the purposes of determining whether or not good quality care has been given in the first place, should  be no different to another practitioner or a practice nurse looking at a file for another purpose, say to ring the patient to say you should perhaps have a follow up smear or we’ve got your smear results.

A:   	Yes I agree that that has been appreciated only recently and in fact there are now arrangements for quality assurance  in particular under the medical practitioner’s act I think and I’m not familiar with the details of that but really this need extends beyond quality assurance  to research and I think that the history of the situation is this, that in the past it was accepted that doctors exchanged information in a confidential way for the purposes of research and that was actually in various professional codes for example the British Medical Assoc. and sort of more than 20 yrs ago if a study involved merely the use of records it was not usually expected that it would even be taken to an Ethics Committee and even after Ethics Committees were established around the world, in the early days they confined their attention to intervention or experimental studies, so studies that involved the use of case notes and that sort of information were regarded as almost routine but I think there has been a great upsurge in concerns about privacy and autonomy in many countries and that has nothing to do with health research, it has to do with other issues about you know all the data that Governments keep about people, not just Governments, banks and credit ratings and so on so people tend to have, I think, a general feeling of threat about information and privacy.   So if you go out and ask people in the street “do you think the privacy of health records is important”, they will of course say “yes”, and it is important.  But if you go and ask them and say “is it so important that perhaps 10 or 15 women should die by cervical cancer this year, or next year”, they'd say, “don’t be ridiculous, of course it’s not that important.”   So again there is a balance required.   If one just considers privacy and autonomy I think we would all say “I want to be consulted”, but I think that the vast majority of New Zealanders are much more reasonable about that.  When they're given the balance they would say, “Yes, if it’s practicable and desirable to contact the people you should do so”, but if it were shown that that was not the case, I think most people would regard this as a very small risk in comparison with the benefits.

Q:    In the case of your study would the individual women have needed to be subjected to any medical processes like smears being taken again, colposcopies – anything like that, or you could have done it just by looking at their records?

A:    Entirely.

Q:    By looking at the records?

A:    Yes.

Q:    The articles that led to the concerns developing around what happened in National Women's Hospital in 1988, would they have been able to be written – particularly the medical articles – if the same concerns about privacy had been around then?

A:    No, they certainly wouldn't have been, and I've actually been reflecting on this and discussing it with colleagues because it’s quite fascinating that, of course the Cartwright Inquiry was brought about by an article in Metro by Sandra Coney and Phillida Bunkle and the core material they used in that article was a scientific paper published by Dr MacIndoe and Dr Jones and others.  Now what they did was to study the records of women at the National Women's Hospital who had been part of the Green study, if I may call it that, and they analysed these in great detail over several years and studied those records and showed that many of the women had been harmed by what was done, a significant number had developed cervical cancer and died as a result.  Now there is no way that study could be done today.   Apart from the fact that an Ethics Committee might be unhappy about the study being done at all, they would certainly require that the caregivers, the people responsible for the care of that patient, should approve access to the records.   I think it’s highly unlikely that Dr Green, or Professor Bonham, would have allowed that study to have occurred.   So I think it’s a very striking example that if one has these very strict processes in place, with regard to the use of records, incidence such as a National Women’s study will not come to light in the future.

Q:    And the development of Ethics Committees was either contributed to or was the catalyst the Cartwright Inquiry?

A:    Yes there were some Ethics Committees.  I think there was certainly one in Auckland.   There was one at National Women's Hospital which was chaired by the professor and there was certainly one in Otago and there may have been others, but certainly the Cartwright Inquiry and the recommendations of Judge Cartwright as she then was were a huge stimulus and it was only after that Inquiry that the whole national approach was adopted.

Q:    So it’s rather ironic that an Inquiry that has been the catalyst for the national development of Ethics Committees in their current form may well not have taken place if those very Ethics Committees in their current form had been in place at that time?

A:   Yes, I think that’s almost certainly true.



MS THORPE:   Professor Skegg you indicated that you didn't think any of these committees would have taken into account the possible ramifications of not giving approval – i.e. the potential deaths of women unnecessarily.   That’s just an assumption on your part, though, isn't it?

A:    Yes.  I didn't actually I think say that they wouldn't have taken it into account at all, but I don’t think they would have fully considered – and certainly in respect of one of the committees – not the Tairawhiti – I have discussed it with a member of the committee who made it very clear to me that they had not considered at all the costs of not doing it.   But that’s not relevant to the Tairawhiti committee.

Q:    Thank you.  You were asked about the risk to the individuals.  Risk of identification would certainly be a risk that the Ethics Committee should take into account wouldn't it?

A:    Yes, are you meaning in the reporting of the research?

Q:    Well, if at all caused by the research, either by reporting or during the process of research?    Identification to the public shall we say.

A:    Yes, and again I would like to reiterate that I’m not aware of any health research project in NZ that has had that outcome.   Certainly I could give an assurance that the project for which I was responsible would take all safeguards to ensure that that could not happen.

Q:    if an Ethics Committee though, for example, felt that it could not or had not been reassured that the information would be presented in an anonymous way and that in fact there was a real possibility of identification of the subject women, for example, here, that would be an appropriate thing for them to take into account?

A:    Yes it would be but it was not one of the issues that was raised with the committee when we met with them on 3 May.

Q:    But you're not saying by that, are you, that it wasn’t an issue that they took into account?

A:    No, they may have done.

Q:    In your second brief of evidence you indicated that in your view to dispense with consent would be a small loss of privacy or autonomy, I presume when compared with the potential benefit to others?

A:    Yes, I was actually not – could you refer me to the para that you're  citing there?

Q:    Para 31 on p11 of your second brief of evidence.

A:    Yes, I’d like to make it clear that this para is part of my general submission at the end of my brief and was not specific to the Tairawhiti Ethics Committee.   I certainly accept, and said this to the committee when I met with them on 3 May, that I think that this was quite an unusual situation here in Gisborne.  And I think the committee had an extremely difficult task because on the one hand the need for the information seemed particularly great because there was so much concern about the safety of women in this area;   on the other hand, they were very much in the public spotlight and the women concerned themselves had already suffered a great deal.   So before we even knew the decision of the committee I said to them that I felt that they had an extremely difficult task, I was glad I wasn’t in their shoes.  This particular statement is a much more general one which applies to health research and particularly I guess to the national evaluation which is not being planned and considered in the heat of an Inquiry such as this one.   It’s one that’s had a very long gestation.

Q:    So in terms of the impact upon the individuals concerned that may range, depending on who those individuals are, what they’ve been through, perhaps whether they have already a fairly depleted faith in the medical system.

A:    Yes.   And I imagine that individuals in any group will vary in their reaction.  I imagine that some would feel that the loss of privacy was not small.  I imagine that others would feel angry that steps were not being taken to learn about their experience and to ensure that those responsible learn from it and that it doesn't happen again.   That’s been my overwhelming experience doing this kind of research for more than 25 years, that we often have great difficulty persuading the Ethics Committee we should approach patients say with cancer for interviews, which is not the case here.   Almost overwhelmingly they agree to participate and are unfailingly helpful and are usually very grateful to have been able to contribute to understanding the problem they suffer from.  I mean that is such a strong feeling I have and my colleagues and I have sometimes had to persuade people not to leave money to our dept in their bequests and so on because they are so pleased to be involved in these studies so I would want to emphasise that for every person who might argue that there is a loss of privacy there are many who would probably be disappointed and even sometimes angry that steps were not being taken to investigate their problem.



CHAIR INTERJECTS AND XXN WITNESS

CHAIR:   	Would the women have needed to know that their medical records were being looked at.  I mean if you were just looking at their records, what is the difference between you looking at their records and the same if they go to their doctor and they find a locum there and the locum in order to get an appreciation of their problem which they present happens to go back over their medical records and reads them.  Is there much difference.

A:   	Well personally I don’t think there is but in fact they would have known because there was nothing secret about this inquiry and on the 1 May I tabled the proposal, it was covered in the Gisborne Herald and the New Zealand Herald so we certainly weren’t wanting to do this in a subterranean way and if any women had approached us and said that they didn’t wish to participate I’m sure we would have honored that.  In fact that seems to have been the approach that was adopted with the Health Funding Authority’s own study and I notice that in Tracey Mellor’s brief that the Tairawhiti Ethics Committee have been consulted about the Health Funding Authority study which involves for example the incorporation of results from colposcopists which must have involved access to medical records but there’s no mention of the committee requiring writing and formal consent from those women or from their next of kin.  



MS THORPE CONTINUES XXN OF WITNESS

MS THORPE:   	Do you know for a fact through whether that consent was required in that case or not?

A:   	Well I’m almost certain that it wasn’t because the document the brief from Ms Mellor says that after the information had been collected, women were sent a letter and given the opportunity to decline to have the information put on the data base and in fact very few declined.  I think it just illustrates yet again the point that I made, I haven’t got the figures immediately at hand but it as a tiny number that asked not to have their records put on the data base but the information had already been collected presumably without their consent and I’d think that was entirely appropriate given the nature of the problem but I think it jut illustrates that committees do sometimes take different views of different studies.



CHAIR ADDRESSES MS THORPE

CHAIR:   	Ms Thorpe there is a document headed legislative context at page 219 exhibit 8 of DuRose where it sets out the Health Funding Authority’s it must be the advice they got on the impact of the health information privacy code in Section 22C of the Health Act on their study of these other laboratories.

MS THORPE:   	Thank you ma’am.

PROFESSOR SKEGG:	Well if I could just refer Madam Chair the reference that I was making was to the actual local Tairawhiti investigation if I could just find the brief –

CHAIR:   	Mr Murray can you help because you’ve presumably helped prepare this brief.

MR MURRAY:   	Which the supplementary.

PROFESSOR SKEGG: 	Yes it's on annex 87 page 17 and under 7.2 privacy and confidentiality.  Advice was sought, it doesn’t say from where, to ensure the Health Funding Authority had the legal authority to collect the data and so on and then it says that in the second paragraph of that section the third sentence, well first of all the first sentence, the result letter sent to all women on 6 March advised of our intention to establish a re-read  database but by that time a lot of information had been collected and then later in the paragraph it says women were invited to contact us if they did not wish to have their data included.  Now somewhere it gives the numbers, counsel for the Health Funding Authority may be able to help me, but it was a very tiny number of women who asked not to have their information on the database.  It was of the order of 10 out of several thousand.

CHAIR:   	I remember reading something to that effect.

MR MURRAY:   	Just to clarify the Tairawhiti Regional Ethics Committee wasn’t actually asked for consent and that's 7.4.

CHAIR:   	No it was simply advised of what the Health Funding Authority’s intentions were and they went ahead and did it.

MR MURRAY:   	And the distinction between  this and other exercises that here the women were being followed up for treatment  purposes and therefore Section 74A on my understanding would not be a block to that process but when you’re doing a review it could be.

CHAIR:   	It struck me as being a very sound approach and an imaginative legal approach in the sense that to say that we are following the women up for treatment, obviously some of the women their smears would have been normal, you would have been checking that out you weren’t actually – I mean you were seeing this follow up exercise as being part of their treatment .

MR MURRAY:   	Exactly.

CHAIR:   	Which is what I have been suggesting to Professor Skegg as well is that if follow up exercises of these sort are seen as part and parcel of good quality medical treatment rather than separate exercises, it helps you get around this hurdle.

MR MURRAY:   	Well yes I think this is rather a unique situation so I can see the issue of course, the only issue if I can just take the chance while I’m on my feet, in that the witness could be asked this question, and that is if you get a very successful screening programme because women have signed up to it in large numbers because of very strong confidentiality statutory provisions, do you risk undermining your programme if you have bold procedures for evaluation and monitoring that doesn’t protect confidentiality so while we’ve got Professor Skegg here the upside and the downside could be put to him.

CHAIR:   	You prefer the head in the sand approach, you just cross your fingers and just hope all is well.

MR MURRAY:   	No I think the point is that would Professor Skegg see that the enrollment figures might taper off and therefore the benefit you get from doing your evaluation and monitoring starts to get undermined by the fewer number of women who have confidence in the programme and I think no-ones asked this witness that question.  It would be a useful one.

CHAIR:   	Did you hear the question are you happy to answer it.

PROFESSOR SKEGG:	Yes very happy.  I don’t think that what the various committees since the early 1990’s have proposed is at all a bold evaluation I would see it as a minimal evaluation and if New Zealand women were to loose confidence in the programme I think it's much more likely to be because of the sort of evidence that's come before this inquiry and they may feel mistakenly in my view that they should  not participate because the programme not worth the participation so that would be a much greater concern.  I think most New Zealand women would want to be assured that minimal standards of evaluation and monitoring were in place and I understand the concern but it's rather like the one that preceded the opt off Register and you know I was like several other people in this room, I vividly remember the debate that went on after the Cartwright Inquiry, Judge Cartwright herself argued for a comprehensive Register with strict safeguards for confidentiality and I understand she did that after careful consideration because like most lawyers, she was very concerned about privacy but she did come to that view.  After her repot had been delivered, others argued oh no, this is going to be a breach of privacy and how can you possibility  put such intimate data as someone’s cervical smear history onto a computer and so it was decided that people would have to give consent for the information to go on the Register otherwise people won’t have confidence in the programme.  Now as has been reported I’m sure more than once at this inquiry, the system failed totally.  I understand the same thing happened in NSW and many other places and the odd thing was that when several years later and after the expenditure of several million dollars, they did make it an opt off Register, there was no objection and the registration steadily went up and is now gratifyingly high, and I don’t believe that women need have any concern about the confidentiality of that information.   As we've all seen, it’s hard enough for anyone to get anything out of it.  I really don’t think that, even if it were being used appropriately, women would have concerns about that.   So I think it’s a great pity that issues of preventive medicine and the quality and safety of health programmes do unfortunately get affected by these much broader considerations of privacy that I realise are very real in society.



CHAIR:   would you see it really as a matter of education in terms of it being necessary to educate women about the benefits of going onto a Cervical Screening Programme equally it would be important to educate them about the benefits of having a Cervical Screening Programme that is well monitored and evaluated and subject to clinical audits in circumstances where there appears to be a problem?

A:    Yes, I think they should be kept informed about that.  In fact I doubt whether they need to be educated, I think they could educate us because I think if you ask most women or men whether they thought this sort of thing ought to be done, they would say “of course it should be”.



MS THORPE:   Just to take you back to a comment you made earlier Professor Skegg, you indicated that this particular study you propose was one which had been put firmly into the public arena, it wasn’t subterranean I think was the word you used?

A:    Yes.

Q:    And did I also understand you to say that if a woman had approached you and said she didn't want her details to be involved in that kind of study you would have respected that?

A:    Yes, I said I’m sure we would have.  It was not something that was raised by the Ethics Committee but it would certainly have been something that I think could have been considered and because I would have expected there would be very few women who would take that stance, I personally would not have wanted to go ahead with the study if a woman had objected to her notes being used. 

Q:    So you wouldn't have gone ahead with the study with anything other than a complete complement, though?

A:    Sorry?

Q:    You wouldn't have gone ahead with the study with anything other than the complete complement?

A:    No.   Our concern was that if we were required to trace all the women and approach them and obtain their written consent, and even the written consent of the next of kin of those who had died, that the study would be so incomplete as to be possibly misleading.

Q:  The letter from the Tairawhiti Regional Ethics Committee to Dr Richardson of 12 May, Exhibit DCS/CA/0015, indicates that they were of the belief that in fact one woman had previously declined access.  

A:    Could you refer me to the para please?

Q:    It’s the third to last para where it states, the balance of the sentence states:  “particularly in view of the fact that one woman involved has previously declined access”.

A:    Yes.

Q:    So do you understand from that, that certainly the Tairawhiti committee were of the understanding that at least one woman may in fact not be co-operative?

A:    Yes I’m not sure how because we met with the committee on 3 May and made it very clear that we had not approached any women, that the proposal had just been tabled at this Inquiry and that it was not our intention to approach any women.   So, as I said in my brief, I think there must have been a misunderstanding on the part of the committee about this because no woman had been approached or even been – at that stage – informed about the study.

Q:    This previous indication that access was declined could have been an indication to the Inquiry?

A:    Not in relation to our study.

Q:    Not in relation to your study but generally to the Inquiry?

A:    Yes, it’s possible.  I obviously couldn't comment.



CHAIR:   How are you able to say that?

MS THORPE:   Well, are you aware that Patient One at least initially indicated that she did not consent to release of information to the Inquiry.

MR HINDLE:   Ma'am, I’m going to have to just say I know exactly what my friend is talking about and it’s not fair –

CHAIR:   That’s my questions?

MR HINDLE:   Beg your pardon?

CHAIR:   Was that my questions to Patient One at the very outset, would she make her medical records and ACC file available?

MR HINDLE:   Yes.  On day one she said, in summary, “I’d like to talk to my lawyers about it”, and on day two she said “Yes”.

CHAIR:   That’s right.

MR HINDLE:   It’s really not fair to be asking Professor Skegg these questions on this hypothesis.

CHAIR:   I agree.

MS THORPE:   I was going to make it clear ma’am.

MR HODSON:   To put it more generally ma'am, clearly three is some intention to take time over this matter.   It is, with respect, new for a body which has deliberated, reached a decision and given reasons, to appear before another tribunal to cross-examine about the information which led to those reasons, presumably with the idea eventually of making decisions justifying its decision and equally are a little distant from the terms of reference.

CHAIR:   Yes, well the concern I have at the moment is that the Ethics Committee has said it wants to appear, it’s concerned about what Professor Skegg has said in his evidence.  How much of this falls within the terms of reference or outside of it is really difficult to say at this stage.   Certainly, it’s at the outer margins, but I’m concerned overall because throughout this Inquiry we have heard about it has been difficult for information to be obtained generally.   I’m aware that the Cox and Richardson study has been held up because of difficulties in gaining access to information, so it may be that in writing the report the committee does have some comment to make on Ethics Committees, and that being the case, and I don’t want to pre-empt anything but I just want to ensure that the Ethics Committee that is most concerned about Professor Skegg’s evidence has every opportunity to challenge it now and to call evidence if it so wishes if it is concerned that adverse criticisms may be made about it.

MR HINDLE:   Equally, the question needs to be put on a proper basis.   We started this debate on the question of whether or not Patient One had said yes or no, and so if we could just go back to that, that question needs to be put on a different basis from the way it was put in my submission.

CHAIR:   Yes, I've already said that fact.  You’re quite right Mr Hindle, that question can't be put – not in that way to Professor Skegg if he doesn't have any knowledge of the situation.



MS THORPE:   Thank you ma'am.   Perhaps I could just put it to you this way, Professor Skegg.   Would it appear from that exhibit 15 that the Tairawhiti Regional Ethics Committee were of the view that one woman had previously declined access, whether or not to the study you proposed or to some other release of information?

A:    Well it says that, but I was perplexed, or mystified, by it at the time, for the reasons I've explained.  

Q:    You were present at the meeting on 3 May?

A:    Yes.

Q:    Dr Richardson was also present?

A:    Yes.

Q:    Do you have any recollection of a comment by Dr Richardson that it was already known that one woman had declined consent.  An evidential basis will be filed to support this ma'am.

A:    No, I have no memory of that.   I was present for the whole meeting.  It’s possible there was discussion about the issue that’s just been raised, but I’m absolutely certain she made no such statement about this proposed study.   She made it very clear that it was not the intention to approach women.   The study had only just been announced as a proposal publicly, and certainly she made no statement or made no implication that any woman had declined or would decline the use of their records for this particular investigation.

Q:    is it possible she may have made that comment in respect of disclosure for other purposes on other occasions?



MR GRIEVE:   Madam Chair, I have to say that on this occasion I’m in Mr Hodson’s camp.   We’re now reviewing reasons why a committee came to a decision.

CHAIR:   Yes.

MR GRIEVE:   The decision is a matter of record, and, while it may be interesting and despite the Minister’s extension of our time, we are still under time constraints.

CHAIR:   I’m well aware of that Mr Grieve.

MR GRIEVE:   So I object to this questioning Madam Chair on that basis. 

CHAIR:   	Yes I note that.  Well it seems to me the question is really being asked of this witness was was he aware that Dr Richardson had said that one of the women effected had declined to participate in a study and that is relevant in the sense that it goes to show whether or not both Drs Richardson and Skegg were aware that one woman did not want her medical records to be looked at for some purposes, that's all.  Now if Professor Skegg can’t recall it, that's as far as it can go with him but I think Ms Thorpe is entitled to put that question given its not really a question about the reasons for the Ethics Committee’s decision it's really an issue as to whether information was volunteered by the persons wanting to carry out the study about the unwillingness of one of the women to participate in it so I will allow the question on that basis.



MS THORPE CONTINUES XXN OF WITNESS

MS THORPE:   	Thank you ma’am.  I believe the question was answered in any event.  Just to clarify with your Professor Skegg you application to the Ethics Committee was made on the basis that there was a finite number of women involved, 42 women that's correct?

A:   	Yes.

Q:   	You’ve now told us that that number may in fact exceed 50

A:   	Yes.

Q:   	But I assume you didn’t know that at the time you made you application.

A:   	No I didn’t have them up my sleeve.  Since we made the application I have sadly heard about 9 more women with cervical cancer reported in this area, there may be as I said a few more than 9 so if the study does occur it would be sensible to include those as well and if I may just make a comment that if this study does occur following the submissions that are made next Monday and the chair said that I could not be compelled to do it, it's a question of whether I wish to do it, and what I wish to say is that the truth is between  those two extremes.  I have no personal desire to do it, I think the study needs to be done but I would like to emphasis that I’ve got no great desire to be prying in people’s medical records.  I am more than fully committed in my job and so have no desire to do the study but I do believe it is extremely important that it should be done and I would be keen to work with Dr Richardson and others hopefully in collaboration with the Health Funding Authority to ensure that it is done as best we could if that's the committee’s position, but at that time I think it would be very desirable presumably next week to revise the protocol not only in the light of the fact that there are now more women with cancer, but also because so many suggestions have been made during the course of this inquiry which I’m sure could improve the protocol and I’ve already had some ideas about how it could be enhanced perhaps with the involvement of a consultant gynecologist  and pathologist and so on as well.

Q:   	I take it that you regard it as being likely to be either too difficult or too time consuming to obtain the consents that were requested?

A:   	Yes particularly actually difficult and also I think possibility  inappropriate.

Q:   	When you say difficult did you actually know that it would be difficult or was that an assumption on your part based on the possibility  that some of those women may have relocated or may in fact now be deceased.

A:   	Well I know that many of them will have relocated and I know that some of them have died.  We were talking about cases ..



MR HODSON ADDRESSES CHAIR

MR HODSON:   	Again with respect ma’am are we going to have evidence from a collection of the women, a sample as to how difficult it would be?

CHAIR:   	No we’re hearing the basis upon which Professor Skegg formed the view that consent could be dispensed with.

MR HODSON:   	It's on the record with all of that.

CHAIR:   	Well if Ms Thorpe wishes to explore it she can.



MS THORPE CONTINUES XXN OF WITNESS

MS THORPE:   	Thank you ma’am.  So you were anticipating difficulties but you didn’t have any information of known difficulties would that be fair comment?

A:   	Well this is my area of work so I have considerable experience of doing this kind of study and I think I could have considerable confidence that there would have been considerable difficulties.

Q:   	In relation to a group of only 42 women.

A:   	Yes particularly given the nature of the period concerned, the geographical dispersal and the fact that some of them have died.

Q:   	Those who have died, it's a matter of contacting their representatives  isn’t’ it.

A:   	Yes which is often extremely difficult.  Anyone whose done this kind of research in New Zealand in recent years would find that quite often those people are no longer living in this country they may be in Queensland or somewhere and I must say normally when people have died privacy issues are not given such emphasis as they were in the decision of the Tairawhiti Ethics Committee.



CHAIR INTERJECTS AND XXN WITNESS

CHAIR:   	Are you aware of other cases where once the patient is deceased you have to get permission of the next of kin.  I’m trying to rack my brains and I can't remember whether the privacy act applies to deceased persons or not but I know it applies to natural persons.  I have my doubts as to whether it goes as far as to apply to deceased persons.

A:   	I’ve never experienced it before and certainly for example a death certificate is not a confidential document it's available to anyone, a journalist could access a death certificate if they wished so the imposition of trying to find out who the next of kin was and where they might now reside made me quite certain that it would not be practicable to do the study especially in the time that was available for this inquiry.



MS THORPE CONTINUES XXN OF WITNESS 

MS THORPE:   	Leaving aside the obtaining of consents, assuming for example that that had all fallen into your lap, how long would the study have taken to complete?

A:   	Assuming all consents had immediately been available.

Q:   	Well reasonably readily available.  What portion of time would have been necessary to complete the actual study.

A:   	Well as I said yesterday I think it's a matter of months rather than weeks to do all aspects of the study particularly the cytological review but I can’t say exactly how many week’s or months it would take, that will depend on where the women’s records are, some of them will have moved to other parts of New Zealand so I can’t give you an exact answer to that.

Q:   	So consents or otherwise it may in fact not have been possible  to have that study ready for this reconvened part of the inquiry.

A:   	I have no doubt.  The fact that I’m saying that we could do something between now and late September I think illustrates that although it may not be possible  to complete all aspects of the study I am certain that we could have provided very useful information by now and that we would not have had many of the questions that we have in looking at Ms Mellor’s brief about the circumstances of the women who’ve developed cancer.  We may not have been able to dot every I and cross every t but I have no doubt that if consent had not been an issue, we would have been able to provide quite a comprehensive report since the beginning of May.  We would actually have had more time than we will have now because we had the whole of May and the whole of June and we are nearly at the end of July so we would have had almost three months whereas now we will only have less than 2 months so I should say in advance I think we won’t be able to do as thorough as job as we would have been able if that's the decision that's made.

Q:   	Approval was actually given by Tairawhiti regional Ethics Committee on 28 April wasn’t it, subject to the provisions that you should obtain consents.

A:   	Yes but in fact that was no consent because we had already explained to the committee that the study would not be possible  with that restriction.

Q:   	Did you consider the idea of at least embarking upon trying to obtain consents given that there were only 42 subject women and seeing whether you did in fact encounter the kind of difficulties you have anticipated?

A:   	Yes we did consider that.

Q:   	And did you reject that proposition.

A:   	Yes because our judgment was that the study was almost certainly very likely to fail and we didn’t think that given the amount of angst that the women concerned have suffered, that to embark on a study that fell flat on it's face would not be helping them.

Q:   	It would have been possible  for you however to have started and then come back to the Ethics Committee within a reasonably short space of time to say for example we just can't locate these women please reconsider your decision.

A:   	Yes that would have been a possibility  but I doubt whether it could have been done.  I think tracing the women would have been the longest part of the whole process of the study and as I say it may in the end have been quite impossible for some women or for their next of kin so I don’t think it would have been realistic in the time scale of this inquiry.

Q:   	But that is the position.

A:   	By the very nature of the question.



MR KIRTON ADDRESSES CHAIR

MR KIRTON:   Madam Chair, Ms Thorpe indicated there was evidence, or put to the witness that there was evidence with regard to the deliberations of the committee.  Is that going to be entered into the record?

CHAIR:   There is Professor Skegg’s exhibits which contain a series of letters from the committee to him and to counsel assisting which set out the record in a sense and provides reasons for the Ethics Committees decisions.   We are not proposing to take anything more than that into evidence, unless Ms Thorpe presents evidence herself.

MR KIRTON:   Can we confirm that there is no more evidence to be introduced?  That was the nature of the issue raised with the witness.

MR HINDLE:   Ma'am, I think my friend may be referring to just that series of questions about what Dr Richardson may or may not have said, and I don’t know what Ms Thorpe’s evidence might be, but given where we are at on that issue, as counsel assisting I doubt I would be calling Dr Richardson on that subject.

CHAIR:   No, we don’t need to go into it to that degree Mr Kirton.

MR KIRTON:   Thank you ma'am.

WITNESS:   Madam chair, could I just clarify one point while you are referring to the evidence in the letters that I tabled.

CHAIR:   Yes.

WITNESS:   Apart from the misunderstanding that the committee for one reason or another had developed about the fact that one woman had declined access apparently in our study, there is another I think quite important error that should be drawn to your attention.  In the letter from the committee dated 16 June, [reference Exhibit 20 DCS/CA/20], p8, David Seedhouse gives his views about a number of matters but the one I wanted to focus on is the last para on the page.  Professor Seedhouse gave the committee an opinion, we didn't see the opinion from the other person that they went to, but this person said, “there is a public perception in NZ as in other western countries that the medical profession is not sufficiently accountable for its actions, and particularly for its mistakes.   Whether or not this perception is correct” – this is by the way referring to Dr Richardson’s proposed involvement – “it seems insensitive to suggest that the person appointed to the committee” – and he actually puts that words in bold – “to give independent medical advice should also lead the study into the woman’s records.”  So it seems he’s talked about the Committee of Inquiry in the first para.   He was clearly under the impression that Dr Richardson was not only not even an adviser to the committee but only an adviser to the counsel assisting the Commission and he seems to have had the impression that she was a member of the Committee of Inquiry.

CHAIR:   Yes, I've read the letter, that’s fine thank you Professor Skegg.  I have picked up what Professor Seedhouse says.



MS THORPE:  Just on that point, ma'am, Professor Skegg in the application that was put forward for this study, the lead investigator’s qualifications and experience include the statement “medical adviser to the counsel assisting Commission of Inquiry into the under-reporting of cervical smears.”

A:    that is entirely accurate.   That is Dr Richardson’s role as I understand it.   But clearly Professor Seedhouse had formed a different view.

Q:    That issue was the subject of further correspondence culminating in a letter from the Tairawhiti Regional Ethics Committee to Mr Hindle, and I think that’s p14.

CHAIR:   yes, I’ve read this correspondence, I think the correspondence speaks for itself Ms Thorpe and it’s really a matter of submission for later if you wish to make submission on that.

MS THORPE:   Yes, ma'am, I was just wishing to indicate that in fact the committee indicated that issue had been settled for them.

CHAIR:   Yes.

MS THORPE:  You had indicated Professor Skegg in your brief of evidence that you discerned some skepticism about the value of the research;  would that be a fair summation of your position?

A:    Yes, although I’m not sure how much you what to go into my impressions of the workings of the committee because I’m happy to do so if you wish, but I really, to be specific I could talk about individuals that we met with but I’m not sure that’s helpful to the Inquiry.

Q:    What I really want to do is to draw your attention again to that letter of 12 May and just ask you to confirm that in that letter the Tairawhiti Regional Ethics Committee indicated that it had no doubts as to the value of the proposed research.

A:    That statement was made.

Thank you.



CHAIR:   Thank you Ms Thorpe.   We will adjourn now until 10 past 4.   Mr Grieve, I know you have questions.  Mr Rennie, do you have any questions?

MR RENNIE:  Probably not, ma'am.   It depends a little on what Mr Grieve asks.    There's one point I may wish to raise with you.

CHAIR:   Certainly.   We will adjourn now until 10 past 4.





MID-AFTERNOON ADJOURNMENT 3.15PM TO 4.10PM

�

INQUIRY REUMES AT 4:16 P.M.



MR HINDLE ADDRESSES CHAIR

MR HINDLE:   	Ma’am before we resume the examination of Professor Skegg I wanted to make something in the nature of a public announcement if I may.  I have taken the liberty of organising a commercial photographer to be available at 9 o’clock tomorrow morning to take a photograph.  It seems to me that no matter how we all come to this room, it is a significant event in all of our lives and it is one that ought to be photographed.  My problem is that I have had my back to most of the people for most of the inquiry and don’t actually know who is sitting behind me.  What I have organised is for a photographer to be available and what I would like to suggest that the photograph be as all inclusive as possible  and by that I am extending an invitation to all of the members of the media, to those who’ve sat in the public gallery, to anyone whose been involved, to the stenographers and everyone to join and be part of the photograph, the only arrangement I have is that the photographer will be available at 9 o’clock tomorrow.  If the weather is fine the photo will take place on the stairs outside the building here on Reads Quay and if it's not fine we’ll have to look at an alternative inside but I’m grateful to you for allowing me to make that announcement.



MR CORKILL ADDRESSES CHAIR

MR CORKILL:   	Madam Chair Mr Grieve and I have decided that I’m going to question this witness.

CHAIR:   	I see right.



MR CORKILL XXN WITNESS 

MR CORKILL:   	Professor Skegg I want to take you back please to the comments you were making about the Health Funding Authority laboratory review and amongst those comments you said that the work that the Health Funding Authority has done needs to be developed and I want to discuss with you some particular ways in which perhaps that work might be developed.  You refer to the possibility  of the Register being used and indeed you were critical because it had not been used thus far.

A:   	Not fully used I’m sure some use has been made of it but not as fully as could have been done. 

Q:   	Is one possible  use to take previous smears where there has been a histological confirmation of high grade and review those smears so as to try and deduce the susceptibility of a particular laboratory to a false negative report?

A:   	Yes that would be one possibility.  If I can just clarify what I think you are saying is that when someone is diagnosed as having a high grade abnormality at biopsy and of course that leaves out people who escape detection altogether but among that group you would then look back to see their previous smears whether any of those were false negatives.

Q:   	Yes

A:   	Yes I think that would certainly be worth doing but it needs to be borne in mind that it would not be on it's own a fully adequate investigation.  I think the evidence before this inquiry about Dr Bottrill’s practice would show that in some cases you would get, well there would have been a succession of normal smears so the person  wouldn’t have actually had the high grade abnormality detected but your quite right if a high grade abnormality has been detected, that approach could be used.

Q:   	Would you limit that to the 6 laboratories in question.

A:   	No I wouldn’t and if I could just be permitted to make a general comment because my main concerns about this review and I sort of got – ended up having to be rather critical of the process because of my conclusion about the third term of reference and I think the process is understandable given the pressures that the people in the Health Funding Authority were under and I don’t in any way retreat from my statement that although this may not look like a scientific investigation it certainly wouldn’t be sent to a medical journal, it involves a survey and I think that this type of evaluation needs to be done as rigorously from a scientific point of view as a clinical trial and it is often much more difficult of course.  But my real concerns really are related to the information that's in here, the data that are provided and I would not want to confine it to 4 laboratories or 6 laboratories and I think one thing that needs to be considered very carefully is whether the benchmark that was adopted was indeed appropriate and I know this has already been alluded to and I’m not sure that there has been discussion certainly while I’ve been present of the extent to which international benchmarks were used.  If I could just refer to the report that I referenced in my first brief of evidence I mentioned –



CHAIR ADDRESSES WITNESS 

CHAIR:   	Could you give the name of that report so we know what you’re referring to.



WITNESS REPLIES AND CONTINUES ANSWER 

A:   	It's cancer new registrations and deaths 1995 and in my first brief I mentioned that New Zealand had the second highest death rate from cervical cancer among OECD countries.  Now the age standardised death rate per 100,000 that is in that report, they are almost all for 1995 for New Zealand is 4.2 per 100,000.  For the UK it's 3.1, for Australia it's 2.7 and for Canada it's 1.8.  In other words the Canadian death rate from cervical cancer is substantially less than half the New Zealand death rate.  Now given those mortality data I would expect the detection of high grade abnormalities in a cervical screening programme to be appreciatively higher in New Zealand than in the UK or Australia or especially Canada.



CHAIR INTERJECTS AND XXN WITNESS

CHAIR:   	So what you’re saying is that to adopt as a rule of thumb a benchmark from another country such as Australia given that their death rate is 2.7 and ours is 4.2 might not be advisable because their benchmark would be geared towards a mortality incidence of 2.7.

A:   	Yes but I think it would be very interesting and I haven’t seen it in the submission, to see the benchmarks in those countries.

Q:   	I think we’ve got the benchmark for Australia in Dr Wayne’s exhibits.

A:   	Which I haven’t see.

Q:   	We can show you.  I think it's page 302.  	Exhibit 6, page 306.  This is the standards and –  	I think it's over page 315 and following.  Yes the recommended standard, profile of cytology reporting between  0.5 and 5% of all smears is unsatisfactory that's performance measure 1.  Not less than 0.5% reported as high grade epithelial abnormality now that would correlate with the DuRose benchmark of the 0.5 or higher.

A:   	Yes well given that the New Zealand mortality is more than 50% higher I think the ratio is 1.5:5 than Australia I don’t think that to use the same benchmark is necessarily appropriate.  Now I don’t know what the benchmark for Canada is.



PROFESSOR DUGGAN INTERJECTS AND XXN WITNESS

PROFESSOR DUGGAN:   	Actually we don’t have benchmarks because except for two provinces we don’t have organised screening.

A:   	Thank you.  Your doing very well without organised screening.  And has the benchmark for the UK been presented to the inquiry.



CHAIR CONTINUES XXN OF WITNESS 

CHAIR:   	We may have that in McGoogan. We’ve got her standards too so we’ll get that as well.  I think exhibit 6 is quality assurance  guidelines that might.  We’ve got the standards which appear at page 7 and they’ve given at table 1, at page 9 – under item 2 laboratory report profile on page 9 moderate to severe is 1.6 to 0.4.

A:   	Is that table 1.

Q:   	Table 1 page 9.

A:   	At what part of the table.

Q:   	Under the heading measurement which is in the middle column, laboratory report profile.

A:   	Yes the trouble is that's a broader category.



PROFESSOR DUGGAN CONTINUES XXN OF WITNESS

PROFESSOR DUGGAN:   	Could I ask you to go to DuRose exhibit 6 page 71 and  the top of this page is entitled the decision making process was as follows and the second paragraph as I read it provides some rationale for the 0.5% benchmark.  Perhaps you could read that and maybe comment.

A:   	It does acknowledge that it could have been set at a higher rate but that there had been no recognised benchmark and so clearly it was somewhat arbitrary but I think it would be interesting for someone to do an analysis of a number of countries, perhaps some of the European countries as well to correlate the benchmarks that are used with the incidence of cancer and the mortality rate.  The problem with incidence data is that they tend to vary with the quality of the cancer registration and so mortality is the more reliable indicator but I apologise for the long answer to Mr Corkill but the point I was really wanting to make is that I think it would be a mistake just to focus on the bottom 4 laboratories in that particular analysis or 6.  I believe that it’s essential that we have a national evaluation of the programme of the kind that Dr Cox and Dr Richardson have proposed and it may well need some enhancements in the light of the evidence that’s been discussed at this Inquiry.

Q:    Now we know there are timing issues around that, in that 8 months on there is still no sign of any consent and how long is that likely to take do you know?

A:    I have no knowledge that it will ever be approved.   I should emphasise, that’s for part of the evaluation.   As far as I understand it, and Dr Cox will be able to report on this, I think aspects of the evaluation may be able to start but the audit of cervical cancer is at the moment not approved.

Q:    Given that limitation then, I’m looking for some opinion from you as to the particular steps which you think should be taken immediately to develop the Health Funding Authority work as you have put it.  You’ve said reconsider the benchmarks, you’ve talked about using the Register, perhaps in the way that I indicated and no doubt there are other approaches.   Anything else?

A:    well I think that my recommendation would be to convene or to expand the current group and to – I mean, I could give some personal comments but I think what's really needed is for a group to sit down and debate and design any further evaluation, but I think there is a limited amount that one can do now about data that were collected about the early 90s.   It seems to be much more important to ensure that the system now is functioning adequately.   So I would hesitate to give some “flip” prescriptions as to what should be done to dredge through these data in greater detail.  I think that the primary emphasis now should be on ensuring that the laboratories are functioning now in an adequate way, especially since women are returning to screening on a 3 yearly basis.  I think there is a limit to how much should be done about historical data.

Q:    You see we are in the situation where the Health Funding Authority has carried out this work, it’s placed it before the Inquiry for the purposes of term of reference 3, you’ve made some points in the nature of critique, this Inquiry needs to know, and indeed the women of NZ need to know where this process should go from here in order to be satisfied that term of reference 3 can be satisfactorily answered by the committee.

A:    Well the reason that I felt obliged to make my critique was because it seemed that some people were under the impression that the committee could conclude that there were no systemic problems and I firmly hold that that is not the case, that one has to accept that there could have been and may still be systemic problems.   That’s why I felt obliged to criticise – 

Q:    This is not a criticism Professor Skegg, it’s more a query of where do we go from here?

A:    My recommendation would not be that all the effort is put in to reanalysing these data, I think there's an urgent necessity to get on with the national evaluation as soon as possible, and I’m sure this whole exercise will have given the Health Funding Authority and Dr Cox and others a lot of helpful pointers as to how that evaluation could be enhanced from what is already recommended.   But I think that that’s the urgent necessity, not to conduct detailed studies of the minutiae of these data.



CHAIR:   Until there is a national evaluation of the Cervical Screening Programme and all its aspects, how can we be sure that it is functioning effectively in terms of this Inquiry from the perspective of under-reporting and whether it’s a systemic problem or not and in respect of other facets of the programme as well?

A:    Well I think we can conclude from the national cancer incidence and mortality data that it has some effectiveness, but I don’t think that we can conclude that it is as effective as it could be.

Q:    So we can't really measure whether it is fully effective on the basis of the information we have to date?

A:    No.



MR CORKILL:   Any evaluation of the kind that you have described will not be available to this committee.  Is there any other step which you think should be undertaken in the immediate short term, developing the Health Funding Authority work as you put it, which should be made available to this committee?

A:    Not in the time scale of this committee, and frankly I would not think it was – I mean, given my view about the third term of reference, I actually don’t think it’s where the Health Funding Authority should be putting their efforts, I think they should be putting their efforts and resources into trying to ensure that the programme now is as effective and safe as possible.

Q:    So where we come back to is the national evaluation as per the Cox/Richardson model to be expedited?

A:    Yes.

Thank you Madam Chair.

CHAIR:   Thank you Mr Corkill.   Mr Hodson?



XXN MR HODSON:   

Q:    On the matter of the report originating from Mr duRose, the situation is, from the evidence of Tracey Mellor, that so far as we can tell the correlation rate in the Sydney re-read is reasonable?   I think you told us that yesterday.

A:    In the Sydney re-read?

Q:    Yes.

A:    Is it the correlation –

Q:    Between its high grade calls and the findings.

A:    It was 51%.

Q:   Yes.  So that what the duRose conducted investigation has not explained is why the Sydney rate overall is so much higher than all NZ laboratories or the average of them?

A:    Yes.

Q:    Just in that context, if you look please at Mr duRose’s exhibit 1, p26,  the high grade %s 91/94 by laboratory, this is a question ma'am I would have caused to be asked of Mr duRose if I had worked it out but Professor Skegg may help us.   Can you give us any idea of why the %s of high grade there are not the same %s as was contained in the analysis and the Register’s report apparently covering the same data sent out in 1996?

A:    sorry, what's the second document you're referring to?

Q:    the second document is the report of the National Screening Register, 2 June 1994, circulated in 1996.   It’s HC0819.

A:    Is that an exhibit?

Q:  Yes.  It’s got many references.   Now I've looked through the community laboratory %s for high grades there and they correspond roughly in about half the number of cases, but only half, with the %s shown in that graph.   Can you have any idea of why that might be so?

CHAIR:   Mr Hodson, I think Ms Mellor was going to come back to the Committee of Inquiry on this I think.

MR HODSON:   If someone can help us with that that’s fine.

CHAIR:   I think her original idea was that some of the information is calculated on a December to January year and the other is March to April, is that right?

MR MURRAY:   No, that was a different issue, ma'am.   

WITNESS:   But if I may just say so, this analysis says to June 1994.   Presumably it may have been on the year previous to that, whereas the bar chart you referred to is from 91 to 94, so it’s a 4 year period.

MR HODSON:   I just flag it.

WITNESS:   That may explain the difference.

MR HODSON:   Now you were asked, or you commented rather about the role of the experts in the multi disciplinary advisory group.  If you look at Mr DuRose exhibit 6, page 67 which is about 3 pages in under tab 6.  It's apparent from that is it not that the multi disciplinary advisory group was formed after the questionnaire had been sent out, after the results had been collated and after the evaluation panel had reached it's conclusions.

A:   	Yes I think that's correct and I also believe that some members of the multi disciplinary advisory group had not been recruited at this stage of the process even in March.

Q:   	And it's also apparent from the other exhibits that the last recorded meeting of the group, this is exhibit 10, took place on 28 June of this year.

A:   	Yes.

Q:   	Mr DuRose report is dated 6 July and he grants that the minutes, Mr Murray had concede the point, as far as I can tell there is no suggestion in those minutes that the advisory group ever saw or considered the draft of Mr DuRose’s report.

A:   	That was my impression also in reading these exhibits.

Q:   	Now we’ve discussed your intended project at great length.  The term of reference one is whether or not there was an unacceptable degree of under-reporting.  Would you accept that the very word unacceptable is subjective?



CHAIR ADDRESSES MR HODSON

CHAIR:   	Mr Hodson how can this witness give an opinion on what is really a matter of legal submission as to whether or not unacceptable is subjective or objective?

MR HODSON:   	I’m certainly happy to make the submission separately, I think it's got at least 3 meanings depending on the point of view of the person whose described it as such.

CHAIR:   	You could ask him if as an epidemiologist the word has some particular meaning to him which he understands when he is doing epidemiological studies but otherwise his evidence would be simple opinion evidence no better than anyone else’s.



MR HODSON REPLIES AND CONTINUES XXN OF WITNESS 

MR HODSON:   	I’m happy to come at it another way ma’am but just for the sake of the record did you hear the question?

A:   	Yes I did and obviously as someone whose not expert in the matter, to me the word carries a value judgment which might be regarded as subjective but there will be some things that everyone would regard as unacceptable so I’m not sure whether that would be called subjective.

Q:   	Your assessment of it's unacceptability was based on what you saw as the statistical evidence from Tracey Mellor’s tables to the effect that cancers and high grades had been missed in unacceptable numbers.

A:   	Yes.

Q:   	Now if, and this is a very theoretical if, if it turned out that that rate of misses had had no effect on the clinical management of the women, would they be unacceptable.  In other words, if no woman had come to harm.

A:   	Well I think that's an impossible hypothesis because if I could just refer to the table in Ms Mellor’s supplementary brief which was appendix 5 table 5.6 there was 16 women who were diagnosed with cancer after Dr Bottrill had retired and we discussed the fact that none of those 16 women had been reported as high grade or cancer.  11 of them had a normal smear result whereas all 16 had been called high grade or cancer by the re-read .  Now it seems inconceivable that they would not have received treatment  for their cancer at the time if it had been diagnosed before 1996.

Q:   	I accept that's the basis on which you’ve reached your opinion but I put you to the same hypothesis, if only on the basis that it's theoretically possible  that clinical science had been overlooked and ignored or that recommendations of less than high grade for assessment had been ignored.  Lets just accept for the moment the possibility  theoretically that women had not come to harm, would it still be unacceptable?

A:   	I think it would be by the standards of pathologists.  But if I could just separate the two disorders you separate in your question.   I mean what you I think are suggesting I would agree with for women suffering from pre-invasive abnormalities for the high grade lesions that's why I have in my first brief of evidence argued for focusing on the women who have clearly suffered.  Now obviously for a woman to be at risk of cancer in some sense she has been harmed but we know that many of the women’s high grade abnormalities would have regressed over time which may explain by the Sydney re-read  only has a correlation of about 50% with the histology but for the case of the women with cancer, I’m sorry I cannot even hypothetically conceive that a delay of up to 5 or more years could not have been harmful.  If you seem to say in the latter part of your comment that other people may have missed clinical signs and symptoms and I agree, that's one of the reasons why I thin it important to have a comprehensive knowledge of these cases which I notice Ms Mellor herself has made that point, it may well be that Dr Bottrill’s under-reporting may not have been the only factor.  There may well have been other factors that in some instances are equally important.

Q:   	You see Dr McGoogan and I think others have suggested that a study of the nature that you proposed when you first gave evidence was really the only way in which term of reference one could be definitively be answered.  Now your answer to that now is well that may have been so, but the figures are clear that from a pathologist’s point of view, you feel able to answer it.

A:   	I think it was careful not to say myself that it was the only way, in fact on rereading the transcript I said I thought it was the best way but then I was not saying it was the only one.  I certainly still think it would be the best way and I did have some concerns as to whether the term of reference could be clearly established without such a study but just as you saw the results that have emerged from the Health Funding Authority review appear to me to be so striking and clear cut and as I said yesterday the situation is really much worse than I had envisaged and so I think yes there is now clear evidence that there was an unacceptable level of under-reporting.

Q:   	Having said that you went on to say in connection with the incidence of false positives in particular, that essentially you were not satisfied that it could be put down either to lack of training or to lack of competence and you said in effect that the reporting of high grades was economical and you said that while there was substantial under-reporting it wasn’t random.  Now my question there is, is it possible  that there is some characteristic in the cohort of false negatives that research may indicate some basis on which those false negatives were so called.

A:   	I think that's most unlikely.  I think it’s a characteristic of the pathologist rather than the women, and I think you’ve para-phrased a bit what I said.   If I could just clarify it.  I wasn’t saying that lack of training was not a problem, what I was saying was that not that he called false negatives randomly but that the reporting in general was not random.   Which may seem not a very big claim to make, and obviously I was using an extreme analogy, but I was struck, having read much of the evidence and heard statistics made about Dr Bottrill’s practice and his general competence, and having made the point that a totally incompetent pathologist might be expected to have both a high false negative rate and a high false positive rate I was very struck when I looked at these data that while the false negative rate was extremely high – and I think unacceptably so – the false positive rate was very low.   And I used the word “economical” not in a literal sense that I thought he was trying to save money for the health system –

Q:    No, no, I understood that totally.

A:    Yes, but when he called positive it was nearly always positive.

Q:    Exactly.  Well that raises the possibility, either with the slides or with the pathologist or with the combination of both, there is some characteristic which might tend to account for the number of false positives.

A:    For the low number of false positives?

Q:    For the high number of false negatives.

A:    that’s a possibility but I think in view of the Sydney re-read, despite all the reservations I have about it for quantitative comparisons, I think it’s much more likely to be a feature of the pathologist rather than the slides.

Q:    Yes.



PROFESSOR DUGGAN:   Professor Skegg could I ask you to look at the tables on pp50 and 51 which were used to calculate the false positive rates for both laboratories.  Could I ask you to comment on the following.  I’ll read the numbers out for you.

A:    I think it was pp49 and 50 is it not;  I think p51, the table, is a rather odd one.  It’s a sub-set of the women – it’s only the women whose original results were reported as normal.

Q:    You are correct - 49 and 50.   My calculation was done on p50, because I had space.   If we could just look at Dr Bottrill’s false positive reporting for the period 91 to 96 he had 2 out of 16, which is a rate of 12.5%.

A:    Right.

Q:    For the period 96 to 99 he had 0 out of 18, which is not calculable.

A:    Yes, he had 0 out of 18.

Q:    And for the period May 99 he had 1 out of 42, which is 2.3%.

A:    Right.

Q:    If you total the 3 years 91 to present or 91 to May 99 that’s 3 over 76 which gave the 3.9%.

A:    Yes.

Q:    If you go to the Sydney re-read, 91/96 was 4 over 16, which is 25%?

A:    Right.

Q:    96/99 interestingly is also 0 over 18.

A:    Yes.

Q:    And May of 1999 is 18 over 42.

A:    Yes.

Q:    Which is 42.8%.

A:    Right.

Q:    In total, that’s 22 over 76 for 28.9%.

A:    Right.

Q:    My question to you is, can you comment on the false positive rate of both of these laboratories for the period 91/96.  On the results for Dr Bottrill it was 12.5% and for Sydney was 25%?

A:    Yes, they are quite similar.   They are different but they are not hugely different and they are based on very small numbers.  Based on 16 women.   They may or may not be significantly different.

Q:    so what effect does the time period have on the calculation of the false positive rate?

A:   What is clear is that the Sydney laboratory has the highest false positive rate for the recent period, which would be consistent with regression of lesions among some women – maybe many women.

Q:    So those false positives may actually be true positives?

A:    They may have been, yes.

Q:    But the lesion regressed in the period?

A:    That’s right.

Q:    Between 96 and 99?

A:    Yes.

Q:    So if one was to draw a comparison that might be biologically appropriate, the period 91 to 96 might be a more appropriate inter-laboratory comparison?

A:    Yes.   One of the sort of – and in many ways I do by the way hope that these data get analysed in a lot more detail in contrast to the other data about the other laboratories.   And there's some quite complex things to think through with these data.  But in general when Dr Bottrill called a high grade it would have been biopsied, whereas a high grade that was called by Sydney but not called by Dr Bottrill the women would not have been notified and investigated for up to 10 years after the smear was taken.   So that’s why, in talking about biopsy confirmation as well, I think the fact the two laboratories both had a 51% confirmation rate is a pure coincidence, it can only be that, and the Sydney laboratory was facing a more stringent and somewhat unfair test because such a time had elapsed since the smear had been taken.

Q:    In fact if one moved what are considered false positives in May 1999 for both laboratories and considered them true positives their accuracies could very well be different – i.e. the Sydney re-read might be more accurate than Dr Bottrill because we’re talking about 18 cases v 1.

A:    What you have done is to eliminate the ones in the last period and just look at the first two periods?

Q:    Yes.

A:    So we are talking about 2 out of 16 for Bottrill and then none out of 18?

Q:    4 out of 34 is it?   11.7% for Sydney.   So if we eliminate the false positives for the period of May 1999 and just looked at –

A:    Yes, the Sydney level would be much lower.

Q:    In fact it would be the same as Dr Bottrill’s, or very similar I think.   It would be 4 over 34?

A:    No, as far as I can see – oh, are you talking about over his whole period?

Q:    Yes.

A:    Yes.  His is 3.9%.

Q:    His 2 over 34, you are correct.

A:    Yes, 2 over 34 – again you're leaving out the last period?

Q:    Yes.

A:    And what is that as a %?

Q:    5.8.

A:    Yes.  It’s much more similar to the Sydney comparison.

Q:    5.8 v 11.

A:    Certainly you are right, that all of the comparisons for Sydney have to be considered in the light of that delay.  My comment really was not so much about Sydney as about Dr Bottrill, that the 5.8% is still a very low number.  So I just find it intriguing that that was so low but the false negative rate was so huge.  It seems to me an extreme case of what has been described as a tradeoff between false positives and false negatives, which in my first brief I said that this argument should not be taken too far and one shouldn't assume that there is a tradeoff.   I mean, I've heard people justify, just informally try to justify what happened in Gisborne – well, you have to make a tradeoff – and the public need to realise that and that you're always going to miss some and if you try not to miss every one there are real problems.  And of course there is a real issue, which I mentioned in my first brief, which was, if you remember, emphasised in that article from Briston which was published in the Lancer that if pathologists feel under such threat if they ever miss a high grade abnormality there is a danger of over- reporting so I really questioned this trade off but as it turns out it seems that Dr Bottrill was an extreme example of someone who had a very low false positive rate but an unacceptably high false negative rate.  It's not the behavior of someone who is totally incompetent of looking at the slides.  In that one aspect, I mean obviously incompetence is, like unacceptable, is a difficult thing to judge and if the purpose of cervical screening is to detect high grade abnormalities then clearly he does appear to have been incompetent but the point I was trying to convey is not all aspects of his reporting were equally unsatisfactory which I think is of interest in trying to understand what happened.



MR HODSON CONTINUES XXN OF WITNESS

MR HODSON:   	As usual Professor Duggan has cut to the quick and got to the point.  That's really where we’re at isn’t it.  On the available evidence when he called a high grade he was generally and certainly acceptably right and we don’t know yet why he missed the high grades that he missed.

A:   	Yes.

Q:   	Thank you.



MRS BARRETT XXN WITNESS

MRS BARRETT:   	Professor Skegg I’d like you to go to Tracey Mellor’s supplementary, page 18, 7.3.

A:   	Yes.

Q:   	About the ethnicity data.  Now if the intended study that we’re looking at decides to proceed how do you see your way around the ethnicity data issue if in fact they are going to be maori women included in the study.

A:   	Well my recommendation and obviously we will be guided by the committee in this respect, but my recommendation would not be to separately analyse the maori and the non maori women I think we’re dealing with a very small number of women anyway, about 50, and I haven’t heard any evidence that would suggest that the impact of Dr Bottrill’s under-reporting was different for maori and non-maori so I personally wouldn’t see any need to report the data separately.

Q:   	So you would agree with the letter from the Crown Law is it, counsel assisting, that they suggest in there too that you just might – the letter from Director-General of Health on page 14.

A:   	Yes.

Q:   	Which states that you may not have to identify cases of women in the proposed study as being maori.

A:   	Yes that would be my expectation.

Q:   	Is that a risk factor for maori women that they are not identified as maori.

A:   	I think it is for some evaluations I mean for example in relation to the overall working of the programme I think it's essential for maori women that there are specific evaluations undertaken for example this has been an issue about the ways in which invitations for smears are issued, the availability and training of smear-takers   who are culturally appropriate, the adequacy of follow up for women with abnormal smears and the provision of treatment.  I think there’s a real concern that if one looks at the overall data the incidence rate of cervical cancer in maori women has come down relatively in non maori but it's still about double or slight more than double but the mortality rate is much higher again so that suggests either that cervical cancer is being diagnosed later or that less adequate management and treatment  is being provided for maori women so for some assessments I think it's vital that information is collected separately for maori women and I may say probably for Pacific Island people who also appear to have a high rate of cervical cancer, but for this particular study which is focussing on pathology practice, I don’t’ think it would be appropriate.

Q:   	So you don’t see any difficulties with the National Kaitiaki group?

A:   	No I was hoping we wouldn’t need to approach them.  I have however been thinking over the last 24 hrs since I saw this letter about issues of consultation with maori people and of course again with a very short time with the study you made some suggestions when I was last here –

Q:   	You’re talking about local.

A:   	Yes and I presume it would still be appropriate to make contact with Ngati Porou and so on about what's envisaged if we do go ahead so that they have a chance to comment on the way it's done but I wouldn’t envisage that we would need to use ethnicity specific data from the Screening Register.

Q:   	Going back to your meeting with the Tairawhiti Ethics Committee were the two maori members present at the meeting.

A:   	No we just met what I think was described as a fast track committee which was an opportunity give to us, and I must say I really appreciated them making that opportunity and there were only 4 members present and I don’t think any of them were maori.

Q:   	I was just wondering whether they had a contribution towards the study as well.

A:   	I’m certain because we did discuss the issues of maori consultation and so on and I’m sure that neither of the maori members was present.

Q:   	Thank you Professor Skegg.



PROFESSOR DUGGAN INTERJECTS AND XXN WITNESS

PROFESSOR DUGGAN:   	I just have two very quick questions.  While I was listening to the discussion on access to data I was translating some of the difficulty that Dr Duncan and Dr Van de Mark expressed through my own situation whereby I have multiple trainees in pathology who have various ideas about research, many of them are sound and others are quite fanciful and in order to proceed with the research access to some information is usually needed.  Now based on what Dr Duncan and Dr Van de Mark told me they indicated that a) they had difficulty finding the answer to their question and b) there appeared to be a barrier in terms of the finance.  So my question to you is given my situation whereby I have a number of residence all of whom want to do some research and there is no money available to pay the cancer registry nor is there any money in the dept fund, but they want to know if it's feasible to proceed with the project, how do you do that in New Zealand.

A:   	So that one can obtain the numbers of cases that might be available.

Q:   	Right.

A:   	Well that is the kind of thing for which you would need to rely on published reports if you weren’t able to access unpublished data and I presume in Canada well I know there are some excellent reports of that nature.

Q:   	So in New Zealand somebody would have to talk to somebody who would know about how to access data.  There isn’t a guide out there or a road map.

A:   	No in general I think the quality of our health information, I mean there are problems in the collection of it which I have already alluded to with the cancer registry, but even more in it's analysis and provision is really quite unsatisfactory, and I think that’s largely a matter of the resources of the NZHIS.  Part of the problem is that that is part of the Ministry of Health and in our country it’s a fairly regular thing for Minsters of Finance to say we’re going to cut 2% off all the budgets of all government departments and everyone cheers and says “Great, the bureaucrats are going to be trimmed”, but actually the sort of things that get trimmed are things like the NZHIS.  Unfortunately when the lid sinks things like Cancer Registries can seem terribly boring and unimportant until a programme occurs like this one.   So I don’t believe that we are devoting as much resources and expertise as we should be to the analysis and provision of data, and we are in marked contrast to some other countries that have much better quality data.

Q:    You have tremendous experience and obviously you have lived in NZ for probably your entire life.

A:    Not all of it.

Q:    And you know how to access the data here.  For people entering the arena of research my concern is that they don’t know how to do this and maybe that’s an area that might need some attention?

A:    Yes, I agree, although I’m sure Dr Duncan knows how to because it’s part of his job as a Medical Officer of Health is to provide public health intelligence for his region.   So even the very existence of Medical Officers of Health has been under threat in the last year or two but at the moment it appears that we’re going to continue to have them, which I’m extremely relieved, but assuming that we have that capability, there ought to be people in each area who could provide an access to information and give advice about how it could be obtained.  

Q:   As the situation exists right now, can an investigator call the Cancer Registry and put a question to somebody to determine a) if the Registry actually has the database available that they're interested in without actually being charged for it?

A:    Certainly.  If someone rings Mr Jim Fraser – I mean, there are very few people there so I know who to ring – if you rang Jim Fraser whose name you’ll see here – and you might like to try this as an unidentified member of the public.

CHAIR:   Don’t suggest it.

A:    You could do a confidential audit and I think you would find him courteous and extremely helpful and he would tell you what could be done and I've had experience of dealing with him over 20 years, and other people as well, I know, have always found him extremely helpful and he would tell you what is available, whether it could be provided, how long it would take and how much it would cost if a cost was involved.  It really would be an easy matter for you to pick up the phone and try it – just devise a question.  I think you would be reassured, and I think he would respond to any member of the public in a constructive way.

Q:    Thank you for that information and when all this is over I may try that.  Could I ask you, you perhaps do not need to look at this seeing as you are one of the authors of the paper, but I’ll give the exhibit number, it’s GB/MOH/039 – it’s an article by Brian Cox and yourself on trends in cervical cancer in NZ published in the NZ Medical Journal Oct 1986.   

A:    Yes.

Q:    This particular paper was quoted in Dr Body’s brief of evidence and he kindly gave me a copy.  On p797 of this article you state “Although caution is needed in interpreting mathematical models of cohort trends, the model predicts that as many as 1 in 28 women born around 1957 may develop invasive cervical cancer before the age of 70 if no impact is made on future incidence rates”.

A:    Yes.

Q:    And of course in 1990 or 91 the Cervical Screening Programme was introduced in NZ.   My question to you is, what impact has the Cervical Screening Programme made on your prediction and if the same prediction holds true for Tairawhiti?

A:    Thank you, I'm just trying to find something in my first brief just to assist in that answer if I can find it.  Prediction was based on mathematical modeling of the rates using a method called age period and cohort modeling and Dr Cox is actually much more expert about this than I am.  What it enables one to do is to predict, on the basis of the variation in cancer incidence according to a woman’s age, the period in which she was born – sorry, the birth cohort in which she was born and the period in which we all live, one is able to make projections.  And I think we went on to say somewhere in that paper that the projected incidence for women born around that time was about 3 times that of their mothers.   Certainly that was the conclusion that there had been a marked increase for women born basically since the second world war.  And I was hoping that I had the figures here but I haven't, but certainly I think that the Cervical Screening Programme would have had a very positive impact on that situation, and again Dr Cox may be able to give you some – especially with the warning – quantitative information about that.  But we were very concerned at the time of writing that paper that if we didn't develop an effective control programme we were going to face an epidemic of cervical cancer and of course that was developed further in the other paper, which I think I mention in my brief, which was published in 1991 or 1992 where we made projections of what were realistic outcomes of the Cervical Screening Programme.   One of the reasons we were keen to do that is that people say “Oh look, you do all this work and there’s still about 230 cases a year”, and that’s been quite a common sort of observation.  People who do that forget that we've been dealing with a moving target.   There was clear evidence from the analyses in those papers – and this is not confined to NZ it was also true in Australia and the UK and some other countries that if nothing were done the incidence for women born since the late 1940s was going to be much higher than for the earlier generations.  And apart from the empirical evidence from those age period cohort trends, this was entirely predictable because of the changes and the risk factors that we knew about.   So when we wrote the second paper we felt that if the incidence and mortality could be contained we would be doing pretty well.  In fact, as we've seen, they’ve actually reduced.   That’s why I think, although one must have many misgivings about the way the programme has operated, it will be a great pity if we threw the baby out with the baby water.   It is achieving a lot of good at the moment.

Q:  So that’s a positive comment about the effect of the screening programme?

A:  Yes.

Thank you.



CHAIR INTERJECTS AND XXN WITNESS 

CHAIR:   	Professor Skegg I would like you to look please at Peters exhibit, p15 of 27.     This document contains the proposed national indicators which are part of the proposed evaluation and monitoring plan for the programme.  You will see if you look in the left hand column under target number 2 it says not less than 0.5% reported as high grade squamous intraepithelial abnormality.  Now that of course is much the same as the benchmark used in the DuRose study and taking into account your evidence earlier today that New Zealand had one of the second highest death rates in the OCD of cervical cancer and also taking into account that this rate of 05% is what’s used in NSW where there is a lower death rate for cervical cancer, what comment do you have on the choice of not less than 0.5% as being a proposed national indicator?

A:   	My comment is that I think that should be reviewed for just the reasons you’ve mentioned and also because of the experience that's now been obtained with the Gisborne laboratory where there was clearly gross under-reporting in a laboratory with what would have been regarded as quite reasonable correlations with histology and yet the reporting rate was slightly above 0.5%.

Q:   	There is an indicator here for a correlation with histology cytology Dr Duggan is going to come in.



PROFESSOR DUGGAN INTERJECTS AND XXN WITNESS

PROFESSOR DUGGAN:   	I believe I heard you say earlier that one indicator on it's own does not equate with substandard performance that one would take, look at multiple indicators and assess based on that.  There is an indicator in this document which addresses the accuracy of negative cytology reports what is your comment if this had been measured for lets say Dr Bottrill’s laboratory.

A:   	I’m sorry I’m not aware of how the accuracy of negative cytology reports is to be assessed.

Q:   	I’ll explain it to you.



CHAIR INTERJECTS AND XXN WITNESS

CHAIR:   	If you go to page 19 of 27 you’ll see it there.



PROFESSOR DUGGAN CONTINUES XXN OF WITNESS

PROFESSOR DUGGAN:   	I’ll let the book do it's talking.

A:   	This is really a similar review to the one that Mr Corkill raised.

Q:   	Yes.  Would this standard lend itself towards the identification of subsequent-standard practice in terms of under-reporting?

A:   	It could do but it couldn’t on it's own to be relied upon to because for example in a situation such as the one that existed in Gisborne where a pathologist was consistently under-reporting, well presumably even there cases – I should withdraw that because some cases would present clinically and would be histologically diagnosed and so although this focus is on CIN III perhaps some of those would be diagnosed clinically.  Certainly invasive cancers would be.

Q:   	So you could have an retrospective audit of cancers through this mechanism which would identify under-reporting.

A:   	Yes.

Q:   	In your opinion would this be a reliable indicator of under-reporting of all the indicators that are listed there.

A:   	I think it would be a very useful one.

Q:   	And I believe I heard you say that the correlation of the cytology with the histology which for Dr Bottrill’s laboratory he had a rate of 50% would not in then of itself identify under-reporting.

A:   	That's correct yes.

Q:   	OK.



CHAIR INTERJECTS AND XXN WITNESS

CHAIR:   	Just so I can be clear going back to page 15 of 27 and the 0.5% do you think that's acceptable or should be subject to review.

A:   	I think it should be subject to review with the benefit of hindsight, not that I was involved, obviously it's easy for me sitting here having discussed the evidence for the last 2 days I think there are strong grounds for reviewing it and I’m still intrigued that no-one has been able to explain why Dr Bottrill under-reported so grossly, had quite a reasonable correlation with histology and yet is above 0.5% in these tables.  Basically those variables all fit in to a model and I can’t see any easy explanation that would make me feel comfortable about the 0.5% and then as you’ve just said one has to add into that the mortality in New Zealand and the experience of other countries.

Q:   	Do you have any idea of what a better percentage would be now or do you think that should  be left open?

A:   	I think that should be left to others.



PROFESSOR DUGGAN CONTINUES XXN OF WITNESS 

PROFESSOR DUGGAN:   	Have you seen these proposed national indicators, have you been asked to review these?

A:   	No I haven’t.



CHAIR CONTINUES XXN OF WITNESS

CHAIR:   	The other question is this morning when I asked you to go through the DuRose exhibits concerning the two particular laboratories that I asked you to look at GG and I thin it was AE, firstly can you tell me how long have you had the DuRose evidence and exhibits in your possession?

A:   	Since the middle of last week, I can’t remember which day.

Q:   	And have you since the evidence have been in your possession, had the opportunity to go through the evidence and exhibits.

A:   	I have looked at every page yes.

Q:   	I understand that you are going to be in Gisborne for this evening.  Given that you were asked to go through exhibit 1 by me earlier today while you were in the witness stand, do you consider that you are sufficiently acquainted with the material in the DuRose evidence and exhibits to give the opinions that you gave today based on that material or would you rather have the opportunity to reconsider the material overnight with a view to advising the committee whether after a more prolonged examination of the material you had altered your views.

A:   	No I had read the first document which included exhibit 1 very carefully and there were no constraints of time.  If I’d had unlimited time I wouldn’t have spent any more time on that document.



MR HINDLE CONTINUES XXN OF WITNESS 

MR HINDLE:   	In your evidence you’ve raised some evidence about the DuRose study and just to name a few the question of whether it's about women or smears, the issue of the .5% benchmark and various other aspects that you’ve discussed.  Now my friend Mr Murray put a number of questions to you really on the basis that the study reflected input from a number of very well qualified and highly trained experts.   Let me just ask you this:   Does the fact that the Health Funding Authority may at various times and for different purposes have used a large number of very well qualified experts, does that fact in any way get at the issues that you’ve raised?

A:    No I don’t believe so.

Q:    And that’s no matter how well qualified they are?

A:    No, I think I've mentioned that I have concerns about the timing of their input and the range of experts that was used, so really one of my criticisms of the process – although I’m mainly interested in the outcome and what conclusions can be drawn, but I think one should learn from these experiences and I think that the way in which this has been approached, which is not at all untypical, is less than optimal and I think that given that it is an evaluation of the quality of services provided in different areas it required, I think, very careful consideration as to how best to carry it out.

Q:    No, I didn't want to reopen the debate I just wanted to ask you whether there comes a point at which you’ve got so many experts on one side that it would change your view of the issues.

A:    No.   And I’m not even sure that the experts themselves had full input to the final document.   I think that you can consult people but it doesn't necessarily mean that their input can be variable.

Q:    different subject.   My friend Mr Hodson took you to evidence about term of reference 1, acceptability and unacceptability and those subjects, and there was some discussion about evidence that you’d earlier given.  I just want to remind you of some evidence that’s in the transcript and ask you a question about it.   This is at p895 of the transcript of the discussion when you were first here, and my friend Mr Hodson was asking you about effectively the issue of whether you needed to compare reporting rates to judge unacceptability and I’ll tell you what you said, what the question and answer was.   Part of Mr Hodson’s question, after having raised the subject, was to say:   “Those phrases necessarily imply a degree of comparison, do they not?”   there was then a question:  “Is this in para 64, leads to a substantial number of cases that could have been prevented.”   And then the answer is:  “Yes.”   This is your answer:  “It could be that a conclusion would be reached without a comparison.  If there were no cases that arose as a result of under-reporting the answer would be clear, and if a very large number of cases that had occurred that would be regarded as unacceptable whether or not it was happening in other cases.”   

A:    Yes.

Q:    Is that effectively what's happened here?

A:    Yes, as things have emerged its happened to an even greater degree than I expected because not only has there been a large number, but every case that emerged after Dr Bottrill’s retirement had been under-reported, so it’s a good example of how one always imagines you need a control group but sometimes you don’t.  I said that with my hand on my heart, but I did not imagine that the evidence that’s so far emerged would be so clear-cut.

Q:    Another completely separate subject and this really is just a matter of tidying up what I think is a clear impression.  You were asked some questions that led to a discussion about the study that gave rise to the Cartwright Inquiry.  

A:    Yes.

Q:    the Coney and Bunkle study.

A:    Well no, I mentioned an article in Metro magazine by Sandra Coney and Philip Bunkle – that was not a study it was an article about a number of different aspects about what had gone on at National Women's Hospital, but the thing that led them to that investigation and which they used in a very significant way in their article was a study carried out by Dr MacIndoe and colleagues which had been published in an American journal a couple of years earlier.

CHAIR:   Yes, I think that’s referred to in the Cartwright Report.

MR HINDLE:    and you were discussing, I think, that that study would have had difficulty under the current regime of Ethics Committees.

A:    yes.

Q:    And at one point you gave an answer saying that effectively there was no way that that study could have been done under current – I just want to be clear when you were talking about the study that was done but couldn’t now be done, you were talking about that study and not the Green study.

A:   	Oh absolutely yes.  I was talking about the study that was done by those who were critical of Dr Green’s practice and he wanted to find out what the impact had been on women.

Q:   	Just quickly on Ethics Committees correct me if I’m wrong and any one who thinks this is controversial should stop me but I’ve an impression that at the Cartwright Inquiry  there were hundreds if not thousands of patients records that were available to the inquiry and to those which were involved in the inquiry on a confidential basis and the studies was done and evidence was put up about them.

A:   	Yes.

Q:   	Are you aware of any breaches of confidentiality that arose out of that?

A:   	No I’m certain there were none and I don’t believe there was any barrier to that –



CHAIR INTERJECTS

CHAIR:   	Mr Hindle I don’t think we can take it very far there because we don’t know the circumstances of that inquiry, any orders that were made or anything.  Unless we know the full circumstances by which the medical records became available in that inquiry we’re really in no position to compare it with the current position.

MR HINDLE:   	Yes ma’am of course it is all spelled out at length in the inquiry report itself and I just wanted Professor Skegg to add that small factual additional piece of information as to whether he was aware of any problems that had arisen out of it.



WITNESS REPLIES

A:   	I think I would know because my colleague as such Ms Charlotte Paul was one of the medical advisors to Judge Cartwright who carried out the study and I would have heard if there had been any such problems are.



CHAIR INTERJECTS

CHAIR:   	I’m not too sure what these problems are, are they problems relating to women being unhappy that their medical records were available or are they problems in terms of access to medical records, what are these problems.



MR HINDLE REPLIES AND CONTINUES XXN OF WITNESS 

MR HINDLE:   	No the question I asked was whether there was any problem as to breach of confidentiality attaching to those records.

A:   	No there was not.

Q:   	The Tairawhiti Ethics Committee in particular, my friend Ms Thorpe put some questions to you including a proposition that the risk of identification of women in your study might have influenced the Ethics Committee in deciding your application.  From your recollection of the meeting that you attended, did the Ethics Committee ever put it to you that they were concerned about a breach of confidentiality arising out of your specific study.



MS THORPE INTERJECTS

MS THORPE:   	With respect ma’am I think the issue of breach of confidentiality and ultimately possible  identification are really two separate and are not the same thing.

CHAIR:   	And there’s also the issue of privacy and autonomy isn’t there.

MS THORPE:   	Yes.



MR HINDLE REPLIES

MR HINDLE:   	I  took quite a careful note of my friends question but am happy to leave the transcript as it now stands and that's all I had to ask.

CHAIR:   	Thank you Mr Hindle.  There’s one document we need to get in which is the Ethics Committee guidelines from Ms Thorpe.



[Assigned exhibit number DCS/CA/029]



CHAIR ADDRESSES WITNESS AND INQUIRY

CHAIR:   	Thank you very much for coming back.  Now some housekeeping matters, in terms of tomorrow I realise we have two other witnesses who are professional persons who have sat patiently throughout the day and who are probably inconvenienced by the time that Professor Skegg’s evidence has taken.  What I propose is to hear from Dr Cox tomorrow and then Dr Medley.  I’m very conscious Mr Murray of how much Dr Medley has put herself out to come here, equally I’m very conscious that at the moment the Cancer Society is continuously been given time and then pushed aside and Dr Cox also has had to go to some trouble to be here so we’ll commence in the morning after the photographs have been taken with Dr Cox and then Dr Medley.



MR HODSON ADDRESSES CHAIR

MR HODSON:   	Ma’am I endeavor to be helpful in the matter of timetabling.  There are at least 2 and possibility  3 witnesses this week who would not on my assessment of the matter need to be before Dr Bottrill if we got pressed for time this week.  They are Sandra Coney, Dr Duncan and probably Janice Hobbs.  However, having said that I observe that the time taken today has tended I think to consume the half day we had at the end and I anticipate ma’am that a very unwelcome choice will have to be faced.  Either curtailing questions or not hearing witnesses unless we depart from the practice of the inquiry throughout and start dealing with witnesses in less time that’s been allocated to them.

CHAIR:   	Well we still have Saturday 29 July and we also have Saturday 4 August available to us.

MR HODSON:   	I understood that Saturday 29 July was taken up by Saturday, it's actually 5 August, was the half day I had in mind that we’d lost today.

CHAIR:	No and the 29 July obviously if we have to get to the point of putting witnesses in priority we will do so and hear from – if we do not finish the other witnesses we have scheduled at the moment for Wed, Thurs, Fri we will move those into Sat.  We’ll adjourn until tomorrow.



INQUIRY RESUMES UNTIL 9:30 A.M.

WEDNESDAY 26 JULY 2000





�PAGE  �2313�



25/07/00	B/












